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● (1105)

[Translation]
The Chair (Hon. Bardish Chagger (Waterloo, Lib.)): Good

morning.

I call the meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 15 of the Standing Committee on
Procedure and House Affairs.

The committee is meeting today to continue its study on the in‐
clusion of indigenous languages on federal election ballots. That
will be our focus for the first hour.

Before we go any further, I would like to welcome a new mem‐
ber to the committee, Marie‑Hélène Gaudreau.

Welcome to the committee, Ms. Gaudreau.
Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau (Laurentides—Labelle, BQ):

Good morning.

I'm pleased to be joining you.
The Chair: I would also like to thank Mr. Therrien for all his

hard work.

We have to elect a new vice-chair.

It has been moved by Ms. Romanado that Ms. Gaudreau be
elected. Is everyone in agreement?

Since everyone is in agreement, I declare the motion carried and
Ms. Gaudreau duly elected vice-chair of the committee.

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: It's a privilege to be vice-chair of
the committee.
[English]

The Chair: Our first panel of witnesses comes to us from the
Northwest Territories, Nunavut and the State of Alaska. They are
Stephen Dunbar, chief electoral officer, Elections Northwest Terri‐
tories; Dustin Fredlund, chief electoral officer, Elections Nunavut;
and Samantha Mack, language assistance compliance manager of
the Alaska Division of Elections. Welcome.

In that order, we will have quick five-minute opening comments.
I'd just like to assure all of you that if you are providing substance
for the committee to help us in this study, I will not cut you off, but
if you are not providing us relevant information, I will probably get
you to move on so that we can get to questions and answers. That's
just so you know.

With up to five minutes, we will start with Mr. Dunbar.

Welcome.

Mr. Stephen Dunbar (Chief Electoral Officer, Elections
Northwest Territories): Thank you, Madam Chair and committee
members, for the invitation to appear before you today.

The Northwest Territories has 11 official languages: Chipewyan,
Cree, English, French, Gwich'in, Inuinnaqtun, Inuktitut, Inuvialuk‐
tun, North Slavey, South Slavey and Tł̨ıchǫ. The ability to converse
in an indigenous language ranges from under 200 for Inuktitut to
over 2,200 for Tł̨ıchǫ. While these numbers may seem low in a na‐
tional context, it is important to note that, in our smallest communi‐
ties, most residents speak an indigenous language.

Our governing legislation, the Elections and Plebiscites Act, cur‐
rently makes no provision for anything other than the candidate's
name and photo on the ballot. As the committee may know, there
are no political parties represented in the Northwest Territories leg‐
islative assembly, and efforts to introduce party politics have, thus
far, been unsuccessful.

In 2016, the territorial government introduced amendments to the
Vital Statistics Act, to allow for names to be registered using in‐
digenous characters and diacritics, instead of the Roman alphabet.
While these amendments have not yet been brought into force,
some residents have started reclaiming indigenous names. As one
member said, during the debate on the amendments:

...it also sets the stage for self-identity of First Nations people. You know, the
irony of our existence in North America and the world stage is that we all have
Anglicized names and Christian names. Our culture is not really reflected in our
English names. So this provides an opportunity for people to distinguish them‐
selves as First Nations and Indigenous First Nations around the world.

Under our legislation, a nomination form requires a candidate to
indicate the given name and surname by which they are commonly
known in their community. There is no requirement to present gov‐
ernment-issued documentation, and the ballot would reflect the
name as stated in the nomination paper. Figure 1 is an example of
what our ballot would look like with indigenous names.
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The 1992 plebiscite on the boundary between Nunavut and the
Northwest Territories had the plebiscite question translated into 10
of the 11 languages, with Cree being the exception, as interpreta‐
tion could not be provided in the plebiscite time frame. The procla‐
mation and instructions for voters were also produced in 10 lan‐
guages. Depending on what languages were commonly spoken in
the electoral district, the ballot could have up to four languages in‐
cluded on it. Figure 2 has the English, French and Inuktitut ballot
that was used in the eastern Arctic electoral districts.

I'll conclude my comments with some of the issues we face in
producing materials in official languages. The languages bureau
that was used in the 1992 plebiscite no longer exists, so there's no
longer a one-stop shop to have materials produced into all official
languages. We are reliant upon individual contractors who may not
have the time to quickly turn around materials. The cost to translate
materials can also be significantly different, depending on the con‐
tractor's rates. There may be considerable variation in terminology
between dialects of the same language, so not all speakers may un‐
derstand the materials produced in that official language. Figure 3
includes examples from three dialects of North Slavey from the
Sahtu region, all translating the word “vote”.

Finally, care must be taken to ensure that proper orthographic
tools are installed on computers to support indigenous fonts. The
default settings in word processors can present indigenous fonts us‐
ing incorrect diacritical marks. Figure 4 has some examples of what
can happen when using default settings when opening a document.

I would be pleased to respond to any questions the committee
may have. Thank you, Madam Chair.
● (1110)

The Chair: Thank you very much for that insightful informa‐
tion.

We will now move on to Mr. Fredlund.

Welcome.
Mr. Dustin Fredlund (Chief Electoral Officer, Elections

Nunavut): Qujannamiik Iksivautaq.

Thank you, Madam Chair and committee members, for the invi‐
tation to appear before you as part of the study on the inclusion of
indigenous languages on election ballots.

I am honoured to share with you some of the work that my office
does in promoting and advancing Inuktut in Nunavut’s democracy,
not only as an obligation under the Nunavut Elections Act, but sim‐
ply because Nunavummiut rely on us for information in their own
languages.

An important tool in the voting process are the ballots upon
which we express our democratic choice. Our ballots include candi‐
dates' names in any of Nunavut’s official languages, French, En‐
glish and Inuktut, which we've heard from some of the previous
speakers include Inuktitut, which is written in syllabics, and Inuin‐
naqtun, which is written in roman orthography, the common alpha‐
bet that we use in English and French.

Inuktut names are personal and deeply rooted in Inuit customs
and culture. We rely on candidates for the spelling and translitera‐

tion of their names. These are provided to our office during the dec‐
laration period and are included on the ballot.

Fortunately, my office does have the capacity in-house to ensure
that each name written in Inuktitut syllabics accurately depicts the
candidate’s choice. This capacity is also necessary to decipher the
write-in ballots, to ensure that the voter’s choice—written in any
official language, including syllabics—is accurately recorded. I
have provided the committee with a few examples that depict our
multi-language ballots.

Koana. I welcome any questions you have.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That was excellent.

Samantha Mack, we will go to you for your opening comments.

Ms. Samantha Mack (Language Assistance Compliance
Manager, Alaska Division of Elections): Uvlaasatkun. Thank
you, and good morning.

My name is Samantha Mack. I am Unangax̂, from King Cove,
Alaska. I come to this work in language access from a previous
background in academics, focusing on the self-determination of in‐
digenous peoples. This work is very important to me.

If you don't already know, Alaska is currently undergoing the im‐
plementation of ranked-choice voting for the first time in our voting
process. As such, my department has recently launched a vast edu‐
cational campaign, which is being carried out in nine Alaska native
languages, in addition to Spanish, English and Tagalog .

For us, the inclusion of indigenous languages in the elections
process very much does not end with simple inclusion in the ballot,
but is all-encompassing, including items like outreach advertising
and all public communications from the division of elections. We
also utilize a panel model wherein multiple speakers of each indige‐
nous language meet in a panel to translate together. We feel that this
is a best practice in terms of indigenous translations, and it works
out quite well for us in regard to accuracy and things like that.

Much like Alaska, Canada's role in the colonization of its indige‐
nous peoples and the ongoing impacts of that mean that the inclu‐
sion of indigenous languages in the electoral process is a really im‐
portant first step. I look forward to this discussion.

Thank you for inviting me.

The Chair: Thank you very much. We also are looking forward
to this great discussion.

We are going to start with six-minute rounds, starting with Mrs.
Block followed by Mr. Turnbull.
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[Translation]

We will then go to Ms. Gaudreau, followed by Ms. Idlout.
[English]

Ms. Block, you have six minutes.
Mrs. Kelly Block (Carlton Trail—Eagle Creek, CPC): Thank

you very much, Madam Chair.

Firstly, thank you to our witnesses for joining us today, as well as
for this study.

Through you, Madam Chair, I would direct my first questions to
Mr. Dunbar.

I'm imagining that there are multiple indigenous languages repre‐
sented in the different ridings in the Northwest Territories. If that is
the case, what is the process for producing ballots in multiple in‐
digenous languages?
● (1115)

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: The ballots in the Northwest Territories
only have the candidate's name and photo on them. We don't have
the requirement to print anything other than the name and photo on
the ballot. We are in the process of trying to make sure that we have
a lot of e-voter information published in the indigenous languages
spoken in that electoral district.

If we were looking at the Mackenzie Delta electoral district, the
languages there would be Gwich'in and Inuvialuktun. If we were
looking at the Monfwi electoral district, we would only be looking
at Tł̨ıchǫ and English.

Mrs. Kelly Block: Thank you very much for that.

What types of materials would you be producing in order to pro‐
vide information to the constituents?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: We would be producing signs that say
“vote here” and “polling place” in the various languages.

There will be information about what you require to vote. If there
is a voter ID requirement.... For instance, an elector here must show
proof of their identity and residency. Obviously, a driver's licence
or government identity card would be optimal, but in a lot of our
small communities, fewer than half of the residents will have gov‐
ernment-issued ID. We would be looking at a health card in con‐
junction with something else, whether that's a utility bill, a lease, a
mortgage or a hunter's card.

Those are the things we would be looking at, and we will have
posters produced in each language outlining what materials you can
bring to prove your identity.

Mrs. Kelly Block: Thank you very much.

Through you, Madam Chair, you also identified that there were
some issues with regard to the timelines and dealing with multiple
contractors.

Can you define for us how you have mitigated some of those is‐
sues?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: At the moment, we haven't really mitigat‐
ed any of them. We are in the process of gearing up for the 2023
general election. We are starting this work right now. I am meeting

with our languages commissioner next week to start laying out our
preliminary plans and getting some feedback from her on what
steps we can take.

One of the examples I used was about the different dialects in
North Slavey. This language is spoken in a region of the territory
that is over 280,000 square kilometres, and these communities are
fairly well spread out, so we want to ensure that whatever materials
we produce will be understood by electors in each of those commu‐
nities. We may need to look at producing things in each dialect at
that point.

Mrs. Kelly Block: Thank you for that.

I believe the next question I'm going to ask could be answered by
either Mr. Dunbar or Mr. Fredlund.

Could you describe for us how long your official election periods
are, typically?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: I can start and pass it on to my colleague.

Our elections are 29 days long by law.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Our elections are 35 days.

Mrs. Kelly Block: They're thirty-five days. Okay.

By what point are candidates required to be officially registered?
Is there a certain time frame before the elections are going to take
place? When do you have to have your candidates in place in order
to be able to produce all of the materials?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: For the Northwest Territories, because we
don't have political parties, they have until the 25th day before
polling to get their nomination papers in to be listed on the ballot.
That's the first five days of the campaign.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: We were similar to NWT when we split.
We just lengthened our election period, but it's the same concept.
It's in the first five days, so between 35 days and 30 days prior to
the election.

● (1120)

Mrs. Kelly Block: My last question that I would put to you both,
through the chair, is what sort of feedback have you been given
about language being a barrier for federal elections?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: I can't speak to any feedback we have re‐
ceived about federal elections. We had a by-election here in Febru‐
ary and some of the feedback we received was because we did not
have time to produce the materials in Chipewyan. That was a barri‐
er for some of the elders to be able to cast their vote. Due to a
COVID outbreak, that election was done by mail-in ballot.



4 PROC-15 April 5, 2022

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: In conjunction with the federal election in
2019, we had our municipal elections, which we hosted. Our ad‐
vance vote was on election day, so we shared many of the same
venues with Elections Canada in 2019. Anything that leaves my of‐
fice is in all four languages. Our Twitter account is in all four lan‐
guages. Our ballots are in all four languages as requested, whereas
Elections Canada didn't...it's just English and French.

We had the signs posted side by side on the wall. Ours were in all
four languages and Elections Canada's signs weren't. Obviously, we
heard a lot from people. They were sometimes confused between
the two organizations. We took a lot of phone calls from people
complaining to us about our languages production, but in the end, it
wasn't ours. It was Elections Canada's, so we got confused in that
sense.

Mrs. Kelly Block: Thank you very much.
The Chair: We'll now move to Mr. Turnbull.

You have six minutes.
Mr. Ryan Turnbull (Whitby, Lib.): Thanks, Madam Chair. I'll

split my time with my honourable colleague, Mr. Fergus.

Let me start by thanking the witnesses for being here. I really ap‐
preciate your testimony today.

For me, what we heard from Elections Canada during this study
in the initial meeting was a kind of one-size-fits-all approach. At
least, I took from some of the testimony we heard that perhaps
there needed to be a solution that could work for every jurisdiction
if Elections Canada were to implement a solution on this important
topic.

I think that assumption got challenged in the last panel of last
week, when we heard from individuals from Nunavut that indige‐
nous languages being included on ballots was really important to
them. In terms of other jurisdictions, it wasn't necessarily the top
priority for other indigenous speakers. That was interesting for me
to note. It challenged a couple of assumptions there.

Perhaps I'll go to Mr. Dunbar first, because the Northwest Terri‐
tories has many indigenous languages.

Do you see an approach that really recognizes the regional differ‐
ences of indigenous languages spoken in those areas? What would
you advise Elections Canada to do in terms of being able to accom‐
modate as many indigenous languages as possible? I know it's a
tough question, but I'd be interested in hearing your perspective on
that.

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: Thank you, Madam Chair.

There are probably two comments that I'll make on that.

First, we were one of the first jurisdictions—if not the first—to
include the candidate's photo on the ballot. There were numerous
reasons for why that first took place about 20 years ago. In part, it
was to ensure that electors who may not have full literacy, or who
may be able to speak indigenous languages but not to read them,
would be able to identify the candidate by sight. That is one of the
actions that Elections NWT took—I believe it was for the 2003
general election—to ensure the ballots would be more accessible to
all electors.

The other action is that the returning officers in each electoral
district will arrange, if there is a need for it, for interpreters to be
available at each polling place. Because we have fairly small com‐
munities, we have one polling place per community, so there's a
need for one interpreter in each community. In the communities
where you have multiple languages spoken, we do make efforts to
have interpreters for each language, but obviously that is not al‐
ways possible. I don't think I've fully answered your question, but
that is the best effort we make at the moment.

● (1125)

Mr. Ryan Turnbull: Thank you very much.

I think that's my three minutes, Mr. Fergus, so I'll pass it over to
you.

[Translation]

Hon. Greg Fergus (Hull—Aylmer, Lib.): I'd like to thank the
honourable member.

I also want to thank all the witnesses who are with us today.

My question is along the same lines as Mr. Turnbull's, and it's for
Mr. Dunbar and Mr. Fredlund.

As Mr. Turnbull said, Elections Canada takes a one-size-fits-all
approach, but in the Northwest Territories and Nunavut, the lan‐
guage that appears on the election ballot can depend on the commu‐
nity. In some communities, the languages used for the election bal‐
lot are English, French and Chipewyan, but in other communities,
the language used for the ballot is the most widely spoken language
in the community.

Do I have that right?

[English]

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: For plebiscites, yes, the plebiscite ques‐
tion would be translated into the language that is commonly spoken
in that electoral district, but not for a general election because we
don't have the languages on the ballot.

[Translation]

Hon. Greg Fergus: Mr. Fredlund, the information on the sample
election ballot you provided appears in Latin or Roman characters,
as well as in an indigenous language.

How do you determine which indigenous language will be used
for the election ballot? Does it depend on the electoral district or
riding?

[English]

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: Yes, for the example you see, this is ex‐
actly what a ballot would look like. Of the 25 communities, 23 use
syllabics, the language you probably don't read. Then two of the
communities use the roman orthography, but as you've noticed from
the last example, it's written in Inuinnaqtun. This is exactly what a
ballot would look like.
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We have 100% compliance, so everyone in each community has
their name in English and in Inuktitut syllabics regardless of
whether they speak Inuktitut. If it's someone from southern Canada
who's moved to Nunavut who wants to run, they also have their
name provided to us in syllabics. We strongly encourage it, and we
have 100% compliance when it comes to this.
[Translation]

Hon. Greg Fergus: Thank you, Mr. Fredlund.

I think my time is already up, Madam Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fergus.

Ms. Gaudreau, once again, welcome to the committee. Please go
ahead. You have six minutes.

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you, Madam Chair. That's
very kind of you.

I read what the witnesses from the last two committee meetings
had to say, and that helped clue me in for today's discussion.

I appreciate the useful and specific answers the witnesses have
provided in regard to organizing an election and making decisions
about how candidates' names appear on election ballots.

I would nevertheless like to hear more from them on the proposal
being studied by the committee.

To my mind, we need to determine how we can be inclusive of
indigenous peoples—as part of the truth and reconciliation pro‐
cess—in a realistic and achievable way that aligns with the values
of democracy, of course.

I believe it was Mr. Dunbar who said that, 20 years ago now, a
recommendation had been made to include candidates' photos on
the ballot to ensure that all voters, in Quebec and in Canada, who
could not read their mother tongue or who were not literate would
know who the candidates were. The issues the committee members
discussed at the previous meetings may have pertained to omis‐
sions, errors and such.

I want to use the five minutes I have left to hear what each of the
witnesses has to say on the subject.

Mr. Dunbar, what is the first step we should take to ensure that
our recommendations reflect our desire to include indigenous lan‐
guages on election ballots as part of the truth and reconciliation
process?
● (1130)

[English]
Mr. Stephen Dunbar: Certainly reconciliation is an issue that

we, as chief electoral officers, will be discussing later this summer
in Iqaluit as well. It's an ongoing process and, for Elections NWT,
one of the first steps that I'm certainly interested in taking is ensur‐
ing that someone who has an indigenous name would be able to see
their name reflected on the ballot as they would spell it, and that
may require using non-roman orthography.

On the ballot that I provided to the committee, you will see there
are two names on there, one with Chipewyan spelling and one with
Tł̨ıchǫ. There is a glottal stop in Chipewyan that, if it is removed in

an anglicized form, you lose the meaning of what the name actually
means. If you remove the glottal stop, you've lost all the context of
what that name in Chipewyan actually means. For us it would be
very important to ensure that, if a candidate came forward with a
Chipewyan name and Chipewyan spelling, we would include that
name as they spell it on the ballot. We would not try to anglicize it
because I feel that would be quite offensive to their identity, to their
name and to the spirit of reconciliation.

I'll pass it on to Mr. Fredlund from there. Thank you.

[Translation]

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Go ahead, Mr. Fredlund.

[English]

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: I'm an instrument of my politicians. My
work is not something that I make up. They meet, like you, and
they tell me how they'd like to see my office proceed, when it
comes to running elections.

If you're asking for my personal views on reconciliation, and
how it would work with Elections Canada and indigenous lan‐
guages, I can only tell you how my office does it, and from the ex‐
amples, everything that comes out of my office is 100% in all four
languages.

I will agree with my colleague, Mr. Dunbar. It's very important
for people to be able to express their names publicly, and how they
want them to be written, transliterated, and said. During Project
Surname in Nunavut, everyone was given either English names or
anglicized names. Many people still don't recognize their name,
even though on paper that's their name. Typically, on a ballot, their
name would be written in anglicized words, or they would be pro‐
vided a surname from the government at the time.

Allowing people to write their name however they want, many
elders will put their Inuktitut syllabic names without finals. It
would be like writing in English without vowels. We accept that,
because that's how they want to write their names.

In essence that's what—

[Translation]

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you, Mr. Fredlund.

That helps me understand the specificities of indigenous peoples,
who want their language to be recognized, including the different
ways in which they write their names. It's important to make sure
that is clearly understood. I also really appreciate what the other
two witnesses said in terms of wanting to explain their experience.

Ms. Mack, I want to know what you think of what the Northwest
Territories and the Yukon are doing. Perhaps it could serve as a
model for Quebec and the rest of Canada when it comes to the in‐
clusion of indigenous peoples.
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● (1135)

[English]
Ms. Samantha Mack: I can't really speak to the full extent of

the progress so far in the specific areas that you have mentioned. I
do think that what Mr. Dunbar and Mr. Fredlund have discussed in
regard to the intricacies of even alphabet and name is really impor‐
tant. The construction of the ballot, and what the ballot physically
looks like in terms of [Technical difficulty—Editor] direction, is al‐
so a really important question.

The most fundamental question is to ultimately make sure that
everyone who is looking at [Technical difficulty—Editor] digital or
physical piece of paper [Technical difficulty—Editor].

Fortunately, in our case that's not—
[Translation]

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you, Ms. Mack.
The Chair: Thank you everyone.

Go ahead, Ms. Idlout. You have six minutes.
[English]

Ms. Lori Idlout (Nunavut, NDP): [Member spoke in Inuktitut
as follows:]

ᓯᕗᓪᓕᕐᒥᒃ, ᐅᓂᒃᑳᕆᐊᖅᑐᖅᑐᓯᒍᑦ ᖁᔭᓕᔭᐃᓐᓇᕆᔪᒪᕙᑦᓯ
ᐅᖃᐅᓯᕆᔭᑦᓯ ᐊᑦᓱᐊᓗᒃ ᑐᓴᕐᓂᖅᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᓵᕐᒪᑕ
ᑐᑭᓯᕚᓪᓕᖅᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᖅᑰᕋᑦᑕ ᒪᓕᒐᓕᐅᖅᑎᕐᔪᐊᖑᔪᑎᒍᑦ ᐋ
ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖏᑦ ᑎᑎᕋᐅᓯᖏᑦ ᐊᑐᖅᑕᐅᔪᓐᓇᖅᑰᕐᒪᑕ
ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᓂᐅᑉ ᒥᑦᓵᓄᑦ ᑖᓐᓇ ᐅᔾᔨᕐᓇᖅᑎᖅᐹᓪᓕᒃᑲᓐᓂᕋᑦᓯᐅᒃ
ᖁᔭᓕᕗᖓ ᐋ ᐅᓇ ᐋᒻ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᒃᑯᓐᓄᑦ ᐃᐊᓐᑕᕕᔪᑏᒥ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ
ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒧᑦ ᐊᐱᕆᓂᐊᖅᑕᒃᑲ ᑭᐅᔪᓐᓇᕈᑎᒃ ᒫᓐᓇᐅᔪᖅ ᐃᓕᒃᓯᓐᓯ ᑲᓇᑕᒃᑯᑦ
ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᔨᕐᔪᐊᒃᑯᑦ ᐃᑲᔪᖅᓯᑲᓐᓂᕐᓂᐊᕈᑎᒃ ᐋ
ᓂᕈᐊᖅᐸᓪᓕᐊᔪᑦ ᐊᒥᓱᕐᖑᑲᓐ-ᓂᓂᐊᖅᐸᑕ ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᖅᑎᒍᑦ
ᐃᓱᒫᓘᑕᐅᒻᒪᖔᖅ ᓇᓕᖅᓯᕐᒥᒃ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖃᕈᓐᓇᕐᒪᖔᑦᓯ ᓲᕐᓗ ᐊᐅᓚᓂ-
ᕆᔭᖏᑦ ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᑮᓇᐅᔭᖃᖅᑎᑦᓯᓐᖏᓗᐊᕐᓂᕐᒥᒃ ᐋ
ᑐᓗᖅᑕᕈᑎᖃᕐᓂᕋᐃᒍᑎᒃ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐅᓂᒃᑲᐅᓯᔪᓐᓇᖅ-ᐱᓯᐅᖅᑲᐃ, ᖁᔭᓐᓇᒦᒃ.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

Thank you to all the witnesses who have just spoken. Your com‐
ments are very important, and I think we all have a clearer under‐
standing, especially in terms of indigenous people and voting.

Thank you for inviting me to speak as a witness. I have enjoyed
listening to other witnesses regarding this important issue. As an
Innu, I have always known that language and culture are intimately
connected, but I have been intrigued by this system's attempt to iso‐
late language in the context of voting. I believe the attempt to sepa‐
rate language and culture is another indication of the impacts of
colonialism. While initially voter turnout may have been high, vot‐
er turnouts declined, and remained low for generations.

Can you speak to that in terms of funding?

[English]
The Chair: Ms. Idlout, is your question going to everyone?
Ms. Lori Idlout: It's for the NWT and Nunavut.
The Chair: Perhaps we'll start with Mr. Dunbar again, followed

by Mr. Fredlund.

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: Qujannamiik, Ms. Idlout.

We have a budget process that we go through with our legislative
assembly. They have given us contract dollars that we will be using
for interpretation services to be able to translate materials into lan‐
guages. There is no one in my office who speaks all 11 official lan‐
guages. I think we cover off two at the moment. I would say we are
adequately resourced to translate materials into all 11 official lan‐
guages, the caveat being that it is not always possible to turn
around materials in a timely fashion given that we don't have a one-
stop languages bureau like there used to be in the 1990s.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: Thank you for the question, Ms. Idlout.

Absolutely, the legislative assembly, where my budget comes
from, has always been very generous when it comes to ensuring
that all of our information is in all four languages. It's never a ques‐
tion of being underfunded for that.

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

ᐋ, ᑕᒪᑦᓯᓐᓄᑦ ᐊᐱᕆᓂᐊᕐᒥᒐᒪ ᐋ ᑕᒪᑦᑕ ᑐᑭᓯᔪᒪᖅᑰᕋᑦᑕ ᐋ
ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᑎᒍᑦ ᐊᒥᓱᓐᖑᖅᐸᓪᓕᐊᒐᑦᑕ ᑭᓯᐊᓂ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᑭᓇᐅᔭᐃᑦ
ᓴᓂᕐᕙᑦᑕᐅᓂᐊᒑᖓᒥ ᑐᑭᓯᔪᒪᖃᑦᑕᕐᓂᐊᖅᑰᕋᑦᑕ ᖃᓄᑎᒋ
ᓴᓂᕐᕙᐃᒋᐊᖃᕐᒪᖔᑦᑕ ᖃᓄᕐᓕ ᓇᐅᑦᑎᖅᓱᓲᖑᕕᓯ ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ
ᐊᒥᓱᕐᖑᖅᐸᓪᓕᐊᓂᖏᓐᓂᒃ ᑖᓐᓇ ᐃᐊᓐᑕᕕᔪᑏᒦᓐᖔᖅᑐᖅ
ᑐᑭᓯᔪᒪᓗᐊᖅᑰᖅᐸᕋ ᐋ ᐃᓕᐊᕙᓐᓂᒃ ᐊᔾᔨᒌᓐᖏᑦᑐᓂᒃ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᕐᓂᒃ
ᐊᑐᕆᐊᖃᕐᓂᖏᓐᓂᒃ ᖃᓄᕐᓕ ᖃᐅᔨᓲ-ᖑᕕᓯ ᐊᒥᓱᕐᖑᖅᐸᓪᓕᐊᕐᒪᖔᑦᑕ
ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᖃᓄ ᐊᒥᓲᑎᒋᔪᓂᒃ ᐋ ᑎᑎᖅᑲᕐᖑᖅᑎᑦᓯᒋᐊᖃᕐᒪᖔᑦᓯ.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

I want to ask this of everyone because I think everyone under‐
stands it, especially those of us with an indigenous background.

As indigenous people, we are growing in population and num‐
bers. I am sure there will be fundamental issues that we'll be facing
in the future.

Are you prepared for the increase in population, especially in the
NWT because you have 11 different languages? Are you prepared
to accommodate the growth of populations? What are you doing to
meet the needs that you will face with the increasing populations?

[English]
● (1140)

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: One of the actions we'll be taking, espe‐
cially in regard to languages in some of the electoral districts where
they are predominant, is working with the regional indigenous gov‐
ernments to ensure that the translations we are producing.... As you
said earlier, you can't separate culture and language. We want to en‐
sure that a lot of the materials we produce are actually reflective of
the culture and the language being spoken in a community. Take
some of the translations of the word “vote”, for instance. It's a liter‐
al translation of the letter “x” in some of the North Slavey dialects.
We want to ensure that we are working with the indigenous govern‐
ments to ensure that we have captured not just the literal transla‐
tion, but the spirit of the word as well.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: It's always important. Our population is
increasing. Even though in this last general election we saw a slight
decrease in voting, we can attribute that to COVID-19.
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In preparations, my office always ensures that our Inuktitut lan‐
guage and Inuinnaqtun language are strong. Four or five of my staff
are Inuktitut first language speakers, and we bring in a French-lan‐
guage specialist who helps us out during the election periods. Our
office has native speakers of French and Inuktitut. Of course, Inuin‐
naqtun is a bit more difficult. We live in Rankin. This is not Inuin‐
naqtun central, but we have good connections with people in the
western Arctic to help us out with that.

The Chair: That's excellent. Thank you.

We are going to proceed with the second round of questions for
this panel, and then we'll have Ms. Idlout for the next panel and just
do the first round with Ms. Idlout.

Mr. Scheer, it's five minutes to you.
Hon. Andrew Scheer (Regina—Qu'Appelle, CPC): Thanks

very much.

I just have a quick question for Ms. Mack. I believe you were
listing some of the languages that you offer services in or produce
materials in. I believe I heard you mention Tagalog as well. Is that
correct?

Ms. Samantha Mack: Yes, that's correct.
Hon. Andrew Scheer: Obviously, a lot of the discussion flows

from some of the things we've heard about reconciliation and ac‐
knowledging the unique role the government has with respect to in‐
digenous languages. Of course, Tagalog would, as far as I under‐
stand, not fall into that type of category, but is maybe more the of‐
fering of services to people who require it because it's their lan‐
guage. Is that the spirit of why that language would be included in
the services you offer?

Ms. Samantha Mack: The requirement for Tagalog is a federal
requirement. With that, both the spirit of the inclusion of the lan‐
guage and the simple legal requirement means that it is a necessity
in various districts of the state. Therefore, in order to make sure that
we have as many people involved in the voting process as possible,
we do try to produce materials in as many languages as we can find
translators for.

Hon. Andrew Scheer: You mentioned it's a federal requirement.
Is that specific to Tagalog, or is there a requirement that once a lan‐
guage reaches a certain threshold in terms of percentages of the
overall population, then that must be included? What would the
regulation be that would make that a requirement?

Ms. Samantha Mack: The federal requirement concerns the
Voting Rights Act, section 203. It says that, if 5% of the voting
population speaks a particular language and speaks English less
than very well, that language becomes triggered for requirements
for the election process.
● (1145)

Hon. Andrew Scheer: That is interesting. I appreciate that clari‐
fication because that does open up a whole other rationale or moti‐
vation in the inclusion of different languages. If the goal is for fed‐
eral governments, departments and services to be relevant, or at
least have an impact on people's lives, then they need to facilitate
that understanding. It is a little bit of a different philosophical ap‐
proach than some of the reconciliation ideas, but they all lead to the
end result, with the difference being that, in your system, this is

much more expansive. That would really open up the possibility for
literally almost any language.

Ms. Samantha Mack: It certainly would.

In regard to the spirit of reconciliation, as you've been dis‐
cussing, the federal requirement for indigenous languages lists lan‐
guage groups. We have a federal requirement for Yupik instead of
the various languages within Yupik. Our role as the [Inaudible—
Editor] in reconciliation is to then to figure out which specific
Yupik languages will be produced.

Hon. Andrew Scheer: Indigenous languages then have their
own set of criteria, I suppose, that are more unique than just any
language that might attain the 5% rule?

Ms. Samantha Mack: I think we can definitely say that.
Hon. Andrew Scheer: I only have one other question, and I'll

open this to any of the panellists who would like to respond to it.
We're looking at the inclusion of indigenous languages on the ballot
itself. A number of you have talked about the number of languages
that are used in your jurisdictions. I was wondering if anybody
would like to comment on the dynamic of providing services or
support at the polling locations, beyond just the ballots.

In other words, I've scrutineered before at different levels of
elections, so I have often had people who were maybe in the wrong
polling location, who may not have the right ID or who have ques‐
tions about some of the aspects of the voting process. Is it a require‐
ment in any of your areas to provide that ability? In our federal sys‐
tem, we have deputy returning officers, the DROs, who oversee the
polling locations and answer questions.

Is there a need, requirement or rule for the ability to have some‐
body who could speak to people who may only use that one indige‐
nous language? In addition to having it on the ballot, is there any
requirement for the staff operating the polling locations to be able
to offer clarification, instructions or support in indigenous lan‐
guages as well?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: There is no requirement under our legis‐
lation, but our returning officers and deputy returning officers
would be expected to make efforts to ensure that if there is a lan‐
guage being spoken in that community, we'd have interpretation
available. Electors are also allowed to be assisted by a family mem‐
ber or friend who can help interpret for them.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: Yes, we are legally required to have poll
workers who speak the language of the community. That's where it
says so. It doesn't say, “French,” “Inuktitut” or “Inuktut”; it just
says that whatever languages the communities speak, our poll
workers must speak that as well.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you for that great exchange.

Mrs. Romanado, the next five minutes go to you.
Mrs. Sherry Romanado (Longueuil—Charles-LeMoyne,

Lib.): Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

Through you, I'd like to welcome the witnesses here today. I'm
especially excited to hear from our colleagues from Elections
Nunavut and Elections Northwest Territories, and, of course, Ms.
Mack from the Alaska Division of Elections.
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My first question is to Mr. Fredlund.

We heard from Ms. Aariak, the language commissioner of
Nunavut, at our last meeting. I'd like to know if you've had any
meetings with our Chief Electoral Officer for Elections Canada,
Mr. Perrault.

● (1150)

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: The chief electoral officers from across
Canada meet as a group at least once a year, so yes, I've met with
Mr. Perrault numerous times.

Mrs. Sherry Romanado: The reason I'm asking this is we had
heard that there was some difficulty with Elections Canada having,
for instance, a poster that says, “vote here,” in the appropriate lan‐
guage, or having documentation about wearing masks at the polls
in the appropriate language. I'm hearing from you that at the munic‐
ipal elections, you had signs in four languages and the Elections
Canada signs were merely in two. The translations already exist.

I wanted to know if there was any opportunity to share informa‐
tion, so that there's not a duplication of efforts, but that it's available
to Elections Canada, so that they don't have to reinvent the wheel
and reprint.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: Thank you for the question on efficiency
and whether sharing between the federal agencies and territorial
agencies always works out 100%.

Absolutely, this is something that we're working on. We're al‐
ways in discussions. No one's ever going to say no to sharing our
Inuktitut and our translated works.

Keep in mind that our rules are different. Elections Canada rules
are different from our rules. It's not just a blueprint. It's a bit more
than that.

Unfortunately—or fortunately—the last two federal elections co‐
incided with two of our general elections. Both of our offices are
extremely busy and we don't really have much time to interact and
ask each other how it's going. That's kind of where it stands.

Mrs. Sherry Romanado: Thank you.

Another point in that regard is that you mentioned your election
is 35 days long, similar to a minimum of 36 days for a federal elec‐
tion. It's comparable. However, your nominations need to be in be‐
tween days one and five, whereas in the federal election, it's up to
21 days prior to an election. It seems there's a discrepancy in
Nunavut with the requirement for nomination forms to be in, com‐
pared to the federal election. Perhaps that could be something that
we look at with the Chief Electoral Officer, to see if he requires ad‐
ditional time to get those names of the candidates translated, and so
on and so forth. Maybe that's something we need to look into.

My next question is for Mr. Dunbar.

You also mentioned—through you, Madam Chair—that the
“vote here” signs for a polling place were in appropriate languages
in the specific districts, and that posters about what kind of ID is
required were already translated. My question is similar to the one I
posed to Mr. Fredlund.

Is there an opportunity for collaboration between the federal gov‐
ernment—the CEO of Elections Canada—and you, to make sure
that there are some synergies in translation?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: The materials are not translated yet. That
is something that we are in the process of starting right now. Cer‐
tainly, we would welcome any opportunities to collaborate with our
colleagues at Elections Canada.

Mrs. Sherry Romanado: Perfect. Thank you.

Madam Chair, how much time do I have left?
The Chair: You have 45 seconds.
Mrs. Sherry Romanado: I won't be able to get into my question

at length. I know Madam Sahota has questions, but I'm not sure if
she'll just take it in her next round.

Thank you.
The Chair: I will add the 30 seconds to your next round.

[Translation]

We now go to Ms. Gaudreau for two and a half minutes.
Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you, Madam Chair.

I'm going to ask my question in quiz form, and I'd like the wit‐
nesses to answer with a yes or no.

Ms. Mack, Mr. Dunbar and Mr. Fredlund, you know how federal
elections work.

Are you aware that Elections Canada can provide election mate‐
rials in 16 languages?

[English]
Mr. Stephen Dunbar: No, not all 16.

[Translation]
Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you.

[English]
Mr. Dustin Fredlund: No.

[Translation]
Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Ms. Mack, were you aware?

[English]
Ms. Samantha Mack: No.

[Translation]
Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Okay. I'll move on to my next

question.

I've learned that, in indigenous communities, the meaning of a
word can depend on the culture, even in the same language. French,
for instance, has a number of similar words that do not mean the
same thing.

I was surprised to learn that the translation of the word “vote”
differed depending on the community.
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Is it possible to translate words in an accurate yet culturally spe‐
cific way?
● (1155)

[English]
Mr. Stephen Dunbar: That's something we are certainly work‐

ing on and is one of the areas of discussion we'll be having with in‐
digenous governments. Some indigenous governments are in the
process of trying to standardize language; others are not. They're
trying to respect the dialects in those communities. It's an ongoing
discussion.

I suspect that for some regions of the Northwest Territories, we
will have a more uniform translation and for others, it might be
community-specific.

Thank you.
[Translation]

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you, Mr. Dunbar.

What do you think, Mr. Fredlund?
[English]

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: We have lots of different dialects within
Inuktitut-speaking communities. Our translations come straight out
of Rankin Inlet. Our Inuktitut is from a small town just north of
Rankin Inlet. It doesn't meet the standard of Grise Fiord. It's a sepa‐
rate dialect, but amazingly, Inuktitut speakers understand each other
enough that the gist, the ideas, the names of things are accurate. We
don't have to do it in 25 different dialects.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Idlout, you have two and a half minutes.
Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

ᖁᔭᓐᓇᒦᒃ, ᐋ, ᑕᒪᓐᓇ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᓕᕆᓃᓛᒃ ᐱᒻᒪᕆᐅᒻᒪᑦ ᐋ
ᖃᐅᔨᒪᒐᑦᑕᐃᓛᒃ ᓲᕐᓗ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᓪᓗ ᐋ ᓄᓇᑦᓯᐊᕐᒥᓪᓗ.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

Thank you.

Those language issues are very important to us, as we know.
Why do you think places like Nunavut and the Northwest Territo‐
ries are able to provide language services in four different lan‐
guages for municipal and territorial elections yet Elections Canada
struggles to provide those same services in federal elections?

[English]
The Chair: To the interpreters, we did not get the substance of

what was said. I would just like to give a moment to the interpreters
to provide us with what Ms. Idlout has shared with us.
[Translation]

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: I have a point of order,
Madam Chair.

I'm not getting the French interpretation.

[English]
The Chair: Mr. Clerk, are we getting it? Perfect.

[Translation]
Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Great.

Thank you.

[English]
The Chair: Can we please have the question read into the record

in English, with translation, please?

A voice: Okay. I'll try again.

Why do you think places like Nunavut are able to provide lan‐
guage services in four different languages for municipal and territo‐
rial elections, yet Elections Canada struggles to provide those same
services in federal elections?

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: I can speak for Nunavut's experience. We
live and breath Inuktitut, so for us it's not a question of difficulties
or challenges. This is what we do, so I can't speak to what Elections
Canada's challenges are.

Thank you.
Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

ᐋᒻ, ᑕᒪᒃᑯᐊ ᐋ ᐃᓛ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᔨᒃᑯᓯᒍᑦ ᓄᓇᑦᓯᐊᕐᓗ ᓄᓇᕗᓪᓗ
ᑭᐅᔪᓐᓇᕈᑦᓯ ᐋᒻ ᑕᒪᒃᑯᐊ ᑐᑭᓯᐊᓂᒃᑲᑦᑎᒍ ᐱᔪᓐᓇᐅᑎᒋᔭᐅᒻᒪᑕ ᑭᓯᐊᓂ
ᖃᓄᖅ ᐱᖁᔨᕗᖔᓕᐅᕈᑎᒐᔭᖅᐱᓯ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᔨᕐᔪᐊᒃᑯᑦ
ᐋᖅᑭᒋᐊᖁᓪᓗᒋ.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

We understand what your issues are. What feedback have you
heard from indigenous communities regarding the languages act for
elections? Have you heard suggestions about how access to voting
can be improved in this regard?

[English]

● (1200)

The Chair: I would open the floor to both Mr. Dunbar and Mr.
Fredlund to answer.

Go ahead, Mr. Dunbar.
Mr. Stephen Dunbar: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Certainly, the feedback we receive is that doing more indigenous
languages is always welcome, and it's certainly something that our
office is now undertaking over the next years to try to improve and
increase the amount of services we can provide in indigenous lan‐
guages.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: Thank you, Madam Chair.

That's a great question, Ms. Idlout.

I think one of our strengths is that the majority of the office staff
speak Inuktitut, but I think the dialectal differences are something
that we struggle with all the time.



10 PROC-15 April 5, 2022

Moving forward and as Nunavut standardizes Inuktitut in the
next 100 years, we'll have one level of Inuktitut [Technical difficul‐
ty—Editor] across the territory. That's one of our struggles. It's to
ensure that people in Grise Fiord understand our translator from
Chesterfield Inlet.

The Chair: Would you like Ms. Mack to answer?
Ms. Lori Idlout: Yes, if she wants to.
The Chair: Ms. Mack, would you like to answer as well?
Ms. Samantha Mack: Yes. Thank you, Madam Chair.

In regard to how voting access can be improved for languages,
again, our biggest struggle has been with the dialectal differences,
as Mr. Fredlund mentioned. That is precisely why we subscribe to
the panel translation model to bridge that divide of standardization
versus specificity. The translation panels have been really instru‐
mental in making sure that those kinds of content [Technical diffi‐
culty—Editor] across a wide geographic area.

The Chair: Thank you for that.

Mr. Vis, five minutes go to you.
Mr. Brad Vis (Mission—Matsqui—Fraser Canyon, CPC): I'll

wait until the next panel.
The Chair: Can I go to Ms. Sahota? She wanted to be on this

one.
Mr. Brad Vis: Yes. That's fine.
The Chair: Ms. Sahota, you have five minutes.
Ms. Ruby Sahota (Brampton North, Lib.): Thank you, Madam

Chair.

My first question is for all three panellists. What is the voter
turnout for your territorial and state elections?

We'll start with Northwest Territories and Mr. Dunbar.
Mr. Stephen Dunbar: The number is failing me off the top of

my head. I know that it is certainly highest in our regional centres
and lowest in Yellowknife. I believe the overall voter turnout was
around 50% or 51% in the last general election.

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: Pre-COVID, it was in the high sixties. In
our last general election, during the height of our pandemic, it was
in the low fifties.

Ms. Samantha Mack: Depending on whether or not it's a gener‐
al election year, our voter turnout averages between the high 40s
and low 60s percentile.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: The next question I have is for Mr. Dunbar.

You had said that you have materials translated in about 11 or 12
languages to provide during the election, but the actual ballot is on‐
ly in two. Is that correct?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: We are in the process of translating mate‐
rials into the 11 official languages of the Northwest Territories. The
ballot produced here for a general election just has the candidate's
name as the candidate would spell it. There are no other words on
the ballot. It is just the candidate's name and their photo.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: Their name can be spelled in any language,
however they choose?

● (1205)

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: We would print their name as they wrote
it on the nomination paper.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: When you went from the two languages back
to increasing the number of languages that you're going to produce
materials in, what thresholds were you looking at when making
those decisions?

When you had picked the two, was it by the percentage of people
speaking the language? What made you switch that perspective?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: We've never stuck with just two lan‐
guages. The Official Languages Act enshrines official language sta‐
tus for all 11 languages. For the plebiscites in 1982 and 1992, those
plebiscite materials and questions were published in 10 official lan‐
guages, with Cree being the exception due to an interpretation—

Ms. Ruby Sahota: That's interesting, Madam Chair.

The sample you gave was only in French, English and one in‐
digenous language. However, you had provided the material in 11
languages. Is that what you're saying?

Mr. Stephen Dunbar: Yes, the example provided there is the
eastern Arctic electoral district ballot. However, in some of the
western Arctic electoral ballots, there could be up to four languages
on the ballot. For Mackenzie Delta, that would have been Gwich'in
and Inuvialuktun. For the Tu Nedhé-Wiilideh electoral district, that
would have been Chipewyan, English and French. For the Hay Riv‐
er electoral districts, it would have been Chipewyan and Cree, as
well as English and French.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: Madam Chair, Mr. Fredlund had mentioned
earlier that they have in-house capacity there and where they don't
have the in-house capacity, they have good relations and connec‐
tions in other communities that can help them out.

What would his advice be to our committee and to Elections
Canada regarding building up in-house capacity or contracting ser‐
vices, perhaps through some of the same service providers they use
or creating some sort of advisory group? Could I get some feedback
that we can bring back to them?

Mr. Dustin Fredlund: My office is always open for any agency
that wants to find out more about Inuktitut or Inuvialuktun termi‐
nology or anything. We would extend our resources to assist any
agency, including Elections Canada.

Ms. Ruby Sahota: Thank you to all of the witnesses here today.

The Chair: That was very fruitful and very exciting.

On behalf of PROC committee members, I would like to thank
our witnesses for joining us today, and the insights you provided.
This is a very invigorating conversation.

If something comes to your minds later, do not hesitate to write
to our committee. I can assure you that members will appreciate
any insights or intel that you can provide from your vast experi‐
ence.
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I hope that you have a good rest of the day, and we look forward
to continuing this important work. Thank you.
● (1205)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1210)

The Chair: We are going to continue our study on indigenous
languages on ballots. Our second panel will include the MP for
Nunavut, Ms. Lori Idlout. Welcome to our committee.

This session will start with opening comments from you. We
look forward to hearing from you.

We will go through one round of questions from each of the par‐
ties, and we will ensure that the Conservative Party has extra time.

Mr. Vis, I'll start with you, and if you want to share some of that
time with anyone else, you're welcome to. Then we'll move to the
Liberals, followed by the Bloc and then completing with the NDP.

Ms. Idlout, welcome to PROC committee.
Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

ᖁᔭᓐᓇᒦᒃ, ᐋ ᖁᔭᓐᓇᒦ ᐅᖃᕈᓐᓇᖅᑎᑕᐅᒐᒪ ᑕᒡᕙᓂ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ
ᖁᕕᐊᓇᖅᓯᒪᐃᓐᓇᖅᑐᖅ ᓈᓚᑦᓱᓂ ᐊᓯᖏᓐᓂ ᑕᒪᓐᓇ ᐱᒻᒪᕆᐅᒻᒪᑦ
ᐅᖃᐅᓯᕆᔭᕗᑦ.

ᐃᓅᓪᓗᖓ ᖃᐅᔨᒪᐃᓐᓇᖅᓯᒪᔪᖓ ᑕᐃᒪᓐᖓᓂ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᕐᓗ ᐱᖅᑯᓯᕐᓗ
ᑲᑎᓐᖓᒻᒪᑕ, ᑖᓐᓇ ᐋ ᖃᐅᔨᓴᕐᓂᕆᔭᕗᑦ ᐋ ᐅᔾᔨᕆᑲᑕᐃᓐᓇᖅᓯᒪᔭᕋ ᐋ
ᐊᕕᑦᑐᖅᑕᐅᓯᒪᓇᓱᖅᑑᔮᕐᒪᑦ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖅ ᐋ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᓕᕆᓂᖅ ᓂᕈᐊᕐᓂᐅ
ᒥᒃᓵᓄᑦ ᐋ ᐃᓱᒪᔪᖓ ᑖᓐᓇ ᐋ ᐊᕕᒃᑕᐅᓇᓱᒃᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦ ᐅᖃᐅᓰᓪᓗ
ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖅᐳᑦ ᓇᓗᓇᖅᑑᔮᓐᖏᒻᒪᑦ ᐋ
ᖃᓪᓗᓈᓐᖑᖅᑎᑕᐅᓇᓱᓚᐅᖅᓯᒪᓂᒃᑎᓐᓄᑦ ᐃᑎᓂᖓᓐᓂ, ᐋ ᓯᕗᕐᓕᕐᒥ
ᓂᕈᐊᕆᐊᖅ-ᑐᖅᑐᑦ ᐊᒥᓲᕙᓚᐅᖅᑑᒐᓗᐊᑦ ᑭᓯᐊᓂ ᐊᒥᓲᕌᓪᓚᓚᐅᖅᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦ
ᐋ ᐊᒥᓲᕈᓐᓃᖅᐸᓪᓕᐊᓂᖓ ᑕᑯᓯᒪᐃᓐᓇᖅᑕᕗ ᑕᐃᒪᓐᖓᓂ, ᐋ,
ᑐᓵᓚᐅᕋᑦᑕᐃᓛᒃ ᓯᕗᓕᖅᑎ ᐋ ᓄᓇᕗᑦ ᑐᓐᖓᕕᒃᑯᑦ ᐊᓗᑭ ᑰᑎᖅ
ᐅᖃᓚᐅᕐᒪᑦ ᒐᕙᒪᑐᖃᒃ-ᑯᒡᒎᖅ ᓂᕈᐊᓚᐅᖅᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦ
ᐊᒥᓲᓐᖏᑦᑐᑯᓘᓚᐅᕐᒪᑕ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᑦ
34ᐳᕐᓴᓐᑦᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᓚᐅᕐᒪᑕᒎᖅ, ᐋ, ᓇᓗᓇᐃᖃᑕᐅᒍᒪᒻᒥᔪᖓ ᐃᒪᓐᓇᑎᒋ
ᓄᓇᕗᑦ ᑐᓐᖓᕕᒃᑯᑦ ᓂᕈᐊᓚᐅᖅᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦᑕᐅᖅ 17.5
ᐳᕐᓇᓐᑦᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᓚᐅᕐᒥᒻᒪᑕ ᓂᕈᐊᕆᐊᖅᑐᖅᑐᑦ ᑕᐃᒃᑯᓄᖓ. ᑕᒪᓐᓇ
ᖃᐅᔨᓴᕐᓂᕆᔭᕗᑦ ᐋ ᓴᖅᑭᔮᖅᑎᑦᑎᑦᓯᐊᓪᓚᑦᑖᕐᓂᐊᕈᓂ
ᓈᒻᒪᑦᓴᖃᑎᒌᓕᕐᓂᕐᒥᒃ ᐋ ᓂᕈᐊᕐᓂᖅ ᐊᒥᓱᕐᖑᓪᓚᑦᑖᓂᐊᖅᐸᑕ
ᐊᑐᓪᓚᑦᑖᕆᐊᓕᒃ ᓈᒻᒪᑦᓴᖃᑎᒌᓕᕐᓂᖅ, ᐅᖓᑖᒎᒃᑲᓐᓂᕆᐊᖃᖅᑐᒍᑦ
ᑎᑎᕋᖅᓯᒪᓐᖏᑐᐃᓐᓇᖅᑐᓂᒃ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᐋ ᑐᓵᔨᑕᖃᕆᐊᖃᕐᒪᖔ ᐃᓄᐃᑦ
ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᑦ ᐊᓪᓚᐃᑦ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᐊᓪᓚᖓᔪᐃᑦ. ᓯᕗᕐᓕᕐᒥᒃ
ᑕᑯᓐᓇᖅᑎᑦᑎᔪᒪᕗᖓ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥ ᐊᑐᖅᑕᐅᓲᑦ ᐋ ᓲᕐᓗ ᐋ ᖃᓪᓗᓈᑎᑐᑦ
ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᐅᐃᕖᑎᑐᑦ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐊᑐᖅᑕᐅᔪᑑᓂᐊᖅᐸᑕ ᓈᒻᒪᔾᔮᖏᑦᑐᖅ
ᐋ ᐊᓯᖏᓐᓂ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖅᑕᖃᕐᓂᐊᖅᐸᑦ ᓴᖅᑭᔮᖅᑎᑕᐅᓕᖅᑐᒍᑦ ᐱᑕᖃᕐᒪᑦ,
ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ ᐋ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖏᑦ ᐊᑐᖅᑕᐅᓲᑦ ᐊᓯᖏᓐᓂ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᐋ
ᓈᒻᒪᑐᐃᓐᓇᕆᐊᖃᕐᖏᒻᒪᑦ ᓴᖅᑭᔮᖅᑎᓐᓂᐊᕈᑦᑎᒍ.

ᓄᓇᕘ ᐅᓂᒃᑳᕈᑎᒋᓂᐊᕋᒃᑯ ᓲᖃᐃᒻᒪ ᐊᑐᖅᓯᒪᒐᒃᑯ ᐊᒥᓲᔪᑦ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᐅᑦ
ᐃᓱᒪᖅᓱᕈᓐᓇᕐᒪᑕ ᓂᕈᐊᕐᓂᕐᒥᒃ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᕐᒥᓐᓂᒃ ᐊᑐᕐᓗᑎᒃ ᓲᕐᓗ
ᐊᕕᑦᑐᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ ᓄᓇᕗᑦ ᒐᕙᒪᒃᑯᖏᓐᓄᑦ ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᐃᓄᐃᑦ
ᑲᑐᔾᔨᖃᑎᒌᖏᓐᓄᑦ ᓂᕈᐊᕐᓂᐊᕌᒐᒥᒃ ᓲᖃᐃᒻᒪᑦ ᐱᔪᓐᓇᐅᑎᒋ-ᒐᒥᔾᔪᑦ ᐋ
ᒐᕙᒪᑐᖃᒃᑯᑦ ᑕᐃᒪᐃᓚᐅᓐᖏᑦᑐᐃᑦ ᑭᓯᐊᓂ 2021ᒥ ᑕᒪᓐᓇᐃᓚᐅᖅᑐᐃᑦ
ᑐᓴᓚᐅᖅᑐᒍᑦ ᐱᓇᓱᒋ-ᐊᖅᓱᒋᑦ ᐊᔪᓐᖏᓐᓂᐊᕐᒪᖔᖅ ᖃᐅᔨᒋᐊᕋᓱᒃᓱᑎᒃ.
ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᓂᕈᐊᕐᕕᐅᓂᐊᖅᑐᑦ ᑎᑎᕋᐅᓯᖏᑦ ᖃᓂᐅᔮᖅᐸᐃᑦ
ᓴᖅᑭᔮᖅᑎᑕᐅᓚᐅᖅᑐᑦ ᐋ ᑎᑎᕋᖅᓯᒪᔭᖏᑦ ᐋ ᓯᓛᐱᒃᓯᖑᓂᕋᖅᑕᐅᔪᑦ
ᐃᓄᐃᑦ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖓ ᐋ ᑖᓐᓇ ᐊᑐᖅᑕ-ᐅᖏᓐᓇᐅᔭᓐᖏᑦᑐᖅ, 2021

ᑭᓇᒃᑰᒻᒪᖔᑕ ᐊᒥᓲᒻᒪᖔᑦᑕ ᓈᓴᐅᑎᖏᑦ ᑕᑯᓪᓗᒋᑦ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᐅᑦ
ᐃᒪᓐᓇᑎᒋ ᐃᓄᖃᐅᖅᑎᒋᔪᖅ 36,858 85ᐳᓴᓐᑦᖑᓪᓗᑎᒃ ᐃᓄᐃᑦ, ᑖᒃᑯᐊ
ᐋ ᓄᓇᓖᑦ 25ᖑᓪᓗᑎᒃ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᐊᕕᑦᑐᖅᓯᒪᓪᓗᑎᒃ ᐱᖓᓱᓂᒃ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ
ᓇᒻᒥᓂᖅ ᐊᔾᔨᒌᓐᖏᑦᑑᑎᒃᑯᑦ ᐊᑦᓱᕈᕐᓇᖅᑐᒃᑰᓲᖑᒐᓗᐊᑦ ᓲᖃᐃᒻᒪᑦ
ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᓂᖅ ᐱᒻᒪᕆᐅᖃᑕᐅᒐᓗᐊᖅᑎᓪᓗᒍ
ᐊᑦᓱᕈᕐᓇᒃᑰᕈᑕᐅᓲᖅᑕᐅᖅ. ᑐᑭᓯᐅᒪᑦᓯᐊᕆᐊᖃᒻᒪᕆᑉᐳᒍᑦ ᖃᓄᐃᒻᒪᑦ ᐋ
ᐊᔾᔨᒌᓐᖏᑦᑑᑏᑦ ᐋ ᐋᖅᑭᕆᐊᕈᑎᖏᑦ ᐱᒻᒪᕆᐅᓂᐊᕐᒪᖔᑦ
ᐋᖅᑭᒋᐊᕈᑎᖃᕐᓂᐊᕐᒪᖔᑦᑕ.

ᐊᑕᐅᓯᕐᒥ ᐅᓂᒃᑲᐅᑎᖃᕐᓂᐊᖅᐳᖓ ᓲᕐᓗ ᐋᕐᓂᐊᕐᕕᓕᐊᖅᑐᑦ
ᐊᒥᓱᒻᒪᕆᐊᓗᐃᑦ 100ᖏᓐᓂᒃ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᐅᑦ ᐋ ᐊᐅᓪᓚᖅᑎᑕᐅᖃᑦᑕᕐᒪᑕ
ᐃᖃᓗᓐᓄᑦ ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᖃᓪᓗᓈᓄᑦ ᐋᓐᓂᐊᕐᕕᓕᐊᖅᓱᑎᒃ, ᑖᒃᑯᐊ
ᐋᓐᓂᐊᕐᕕᓕᐊᖅᑐᑦ ᓂᕈᐊᕈᒪᒐᓗᐊᖅᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᑦ 2021ᒥ
ᐋᒡᒑᖅᑕᐅᖃᑦᑕᓚᐅᖅᑐᑦ ᓲᖃᐃᓐᒪᒎᖅ ᐃᖃᓗᒻᒥᐅᑕᐅᓐᖏᒻᒪᑕ
ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᐅᑕᐅᒐᓗᐊᖅᓱᑎᒃ, ᐊᐃᑦᑖᖑᓚᐅᖅᐳᖅ
ᓂᕈᐊᕈᓐᓇᖅᑎᑕᐅᓚᐅᓐᖏᒻᒪᑕ. ᐋ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐃᑲᔪᖅᑎᒃᑲ ᐋ
ᓇᓗᓇᐃᖅᑕᐅᒐᒥ ᐃᑲᔪᖅᓱᑎᒃ ᑭᓯᐊᓂ ᓂᕈᐊᕆᐊᖅᑐᕈᓐᓇᖅᑎᑦᓯᓚᐅᖅᑐᑦ
ᖃᐅᔨᒪᓐᖏᑦᑐᒍᑦ ᖃᑦᓯᑦ ᓂᕈᐊᕈᓐᓇᖅᑎᑕᐅᓚᐅᓐᖏᒻᒪᖔᑦᑕ, ᑖᓐᓇ
ᓴᖅᑭᔮᕈᑎᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᑎᐊᖅᑐᖅ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᐅᑦ
ᐊᑦᓱᕉᑎᖃᐃᓐᓇᕆᐊᖃᓲᖑᒻᒪᑕ ᐱᔪᓐᓇᐅᑎᖏᓐᓂᒃ ᐊᑐᕈᒪᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦ.
ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒥᐅᑦ ᐊᓯᐅᔨᓪᓗᐊᖏᑦᑐᑦ ᐱᔪᓐᓇᐅᑎᒥᓐᓂᒃ ᓂᕈᐊᕈᒪᒃᐸᑕ
ᐊᐅᓪᓚᕆᐊᖃᖅᑎᑕᐅᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦ ᐋᓐᓂᐊᕐᕕᒻᒧᑦ.

ᐋ, ᐃᖅᑲᓇᐃᔭᖅᑐᓕᕆᓂᕐᒥᑦᑕᐅᖅ ᓇᐃᓈᕐᓗᒍ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᕆᓂᐊᕐᒥᒐᒃᑯ
ᐊᒥᓲᒻᒪᑕ ᐃᓐᓇᐃᑦ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐃᓐᓇᐃᑦ ᖃᓪᓗᓈᑎᑐᑦ ᐅᖃᓕᒫᕈᓐᓇᖏᑦᓱᑎᒃ,
ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᓂᕈᐊᕆᐊᖅᑐᕐᓂᖅᐸᑕ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᔨᒃᑯᓐᓄᑦ
ᐃᑲᔪᖅᑕᐅᔪᓐᓇᖏᑦᑐᑦ ᓲᖃᐃᒻᒪ ᐃᖅᑲᓇᐃᔭᖅᑎᖏᑦ ᖃᓪᓗᓈᑎᑐᑦ
ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᐅᐃᕖᑎᑐᑦ ᐅᖃᕈᓐᓇᖅᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᒻᒪᑕ. ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐃᓐᓇᑯᓗᐃᑦ
ᐃᑲᔪᖅᑕᐅᔭᕆᐊᖃᕋᓗᐊᖅᑎᓪᓗᒋᑦ ᐊᓯᖏᓐᓄᑦ ᐃᑲᔪᖅᑕ-ᐅᓪᓗᑎᒃ
ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᑐᑭᓯᓐᖏᑦᓱᑎᒃ ᖃᓄᖅ ᓂᕈᐊᕈᓐᓇᕐᓂᐊᕋᓗᐊᕐᒪᖔᑦᑕ ᑲᔪᓯᓲᑦ,
ᑕᒪᓐᓇ ᐱᒻᒪᕆᐊᓘᒻᒪᑦ ᐋ ᐃᑲᔪᕆᐊᖅᑐᖅᑎᑕᕆᐊᖃᓚᐅᖅᑕᕗᑦ
ᐃᓐᓇᖁᑎᖅᐳᑦ ᑖᓐᓇ ᓇᓗᓇᐃᕈᑎᒃᑲᓐᓂᑐᐃᓐᓇᖅᑐᖅ ᐃᓐᓇᖅᐳᑦ
ᖃᓪᓗᓈᑎᑐᓪᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᐅᐃᕖᑎᑐᓪᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᐅᖃᓕᒫᕈᓐᓇᖏᒻᒪᑕ.
ᑲᓇᑕᒦᑎᓪᓗᑕ ᑖᓐᓇ ᓈᒻᒪᖏᑦᑐᖅ , ᑖᒪᓐᓇ ᓈᒻᒪᑦᓴᖃᑎᒌᓕᕐᓂᐅᖏᑦᑐᖅ,
ᐱᖃᑖ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᕆᖃᐅᖅᑐᕈᒪᑐᐃᓐᓇᕐᒥᔭᕋ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ
ᓈᒻᒪᒃᓴᖃᑕᐅᓚᐅᓐᖏᒃᑐᑎᒃ ᐅᖃᕈᒪᒐᓗᐊᖅᐸᑕ ᐃᖅᑲᓇᐃᔭᖅᑎᓄᑦ ᓲᕐᓗ
ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᓰᑉ ᕇᑑᕐᓂᓐᖕ ᐋᐱᓱᕐᖑᓂᕋᖅᑕᐅᔪᓄᑦ ᑐᑭᓯᔭᐅᒐᔭᓐ-ᖏᑦᑐᑦ
ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐃᖅᑲᓇᐃᔭᖅᑎᑦ ᖃᕐᓗᓈᑎᑐᑦ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᐅᐃᕖᑎᑐᑦ
ᐅᖃᖅᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᓲᖑᒻᒪᑕ ᑐᓵᔨᖃᓐᖏᒃᑯᑎᒃ ᓇᒧᑦ ᓇᓗᓇᐃᕆᔪᓐᓇᖏᑦᑐᑦ
ᐃᓱᒫᓘᑎᖃᕐᓂᖅᐸᑕ.

ᖃᓪᓗᓈᖑᑎᑕᐅᓇᓱᓚᐅᓐᖏᑎᓪᓗᒋ ᓱᓕ ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᑦ ᐊᓪᓚᐃᑦ
ᐊᓪᓚᖓᔪᑦ ᐃᓄᐃᓪᓗ ᓇᒻᒥᓂᖅ ᐋ ᓯᕗᓕᖅᑎᒋᔭᑦᑎᓐᓂ
ᓇᓂᓯᖃᑦᑕᓚᐅᖅᓯᒪᔪᒎᒐᓗᐊᖅ, ᓲᕐᓗ ᐃᓄᐃᑦ ᓄᓇᓕᖏᓐᓂ ᐋ
ᓇᓂᓯᖃᑦᑕᓚᐅᖅᑐᑦ ᐊᔪᓐᖏᓐᓂᖏᓐᓄᑦ ᓲᕐᓗ ᐊᖑᓇᓱᑦᑎᑦᓯᐊᕙᐅᒻᒪᖔᑦ
ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᐋᒻ, ᒥᖅᓱᑎᑦᓯᐊᕙᐅᒻᒪᖓᑦ ᐊᓯᖏᓐᓂᓪᓘᓐᓃᑦ. ᒫᓐᓇᒧᑦ
ᓯᕗᓕᖅᑎᖃᖅᑐᒍᑦ ᐃᓅᔪᑦ ᐃᓕᖅᑯᓯᖅᑎᒍᑦ ᓇᓗᓇᐃᖅᑕᐅᓯᒪᔪᓂᒃ
ᓯᕗᓕᖅᑎᐅᔪᓂᒃ, ᑕᐃᒪᓐᖓᓂᒃ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑕᐅᓚᐅᖅᑎᓪᓗᖓ
ᖃᐅᔨᔭᕆᐅᓚᐅᕐᒥᔪᖓ ᐋ ᐊᓪᓚᐃᑦ ᐅᐃᑦᓲᐃᑎᓐᖑᓂᕋᖅᑕᐅᔪᑦ ᓇᒻᒥᓂᖅ
ᐊᑐᓲᖑᒻᒥᔪᑦ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐃᓚᒌᑎᒍᑦ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐳᕐᑎᔅᑲᓚᒻᐱᔭᒥᐅᑕᐃᑦ
ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑕᐅᖏᑦᓱᑎᒃ ᑭᓯᐊᓂ ᐃᓚᒋᔭᕐᒥᓐᓂᒃ ᒪᓕᑦᓱᑎᒃ
ᓯᕗᓕᖅᑎᖃᓲᖑᒻᒪᑕᒎᖅ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᓯᕗᓕᖅᑎᖏ ᓇᓗᓇᐃᖅᓯᔪᓐᓇᖅᓱᑎᒃ
ᖃᓄᐃᑦᑑᔭᕆᐊᖃᕐᓂᐊᕐᒪ-ᖔᑕ ᓄᓇᓕᒋᔭᕐᒥᓐᓂᒃ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ
ᖃᐅᔨᒪᔭᕆᐊᖃᓪᓚᕆᑦᑐᒍᑦ ᐱᔪᓐᓇᐅᑎᖏᑦ ᓱᕋᑦᑎᖅᑕᐅᓂᐊᕈᑎᒃ
ᐃᑲᔪᖅᑐᕆᐊᖃᖅᑕᕗᑦ ᓯᕗᓕᖅᑎᐅᓂᕐᒥᒃ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑕᐅᓂᕐᒥᓐᓂᓪᓗ
ᓲᖃᐃᒻᒪᑦ ᐊᖏᖅᓯᒪᑉᐸᑕ ᑖᓐᓇ ᐊᖏᖅᓯᒪᓂᖓ
ᓇᓗᓇᐃᖅᓯᒪᑦᓯᐊᕆᐊᖃᕐᒪᑦ. ᑐᑭᓯᖃᑎᒌᓕᖅᐹᓪᓕᖅᑐᐃᓐᓇᐅᒋᐊᖃᖅᑐᒍᑦ
ᑕᒪᑉᑕᑦᓯᐊᖅ ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ ᖃᓄᖅ ᐊᐅᓚᓂᖃᓚᐅᕐᒪᖔᑦᑕ ᑲᓇᑕ
ᓴᖅᑭᓚᐅᕐᓇᑎᒃ ᑕᒪᓪᓇ ᑐᑭᓯᑦᓯᐊᕈᑦᑎᒍ ᓈᒻᒪᑦᓴᖃᑎᒌᓕᑦᓯᐊᑲᓐᓂᕐᓂᐊᕋᑦᑕ.
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ᒫᓐᓇᐅᔪᖅ ᐃᓕᑦᓯᓐᓄᑦ ᐊᒥᓲᓐᖏᑦᑐᓂᒃ ᐱᖁᔨᕗᖔᕈᑎᓂᒃ
ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖃᕈᒪᕗᖓ, ᓯᕗᕐᓕᖅ, ᐃᓕᑉᐹᓪᓕᕆᐊᖃᖅᐳᒍᑦ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᔨᒃᑯᑦ
ᓄᓇᕗᑦ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᓄᓇᑦᓯᐊᖅ ᖃᓄᖅ ᐱᓕᕆᐊᕆᓂᖃᓲᖑᒻᒪᖔᑦᑕ. ᒪᕐᕈᐊᑕ
ᐋ ᐃᖅᑲᓇᐃᔭᖅᑎᑖᕆᐊᓖᑦ ᐋ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᑐᓵᔨᐅᔪᓂᒃ ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ
ᑐᓵᔨᖃᖅᑎᑕᐅᓗᑎᒃ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᔨᕐᔪᐊᑯᓃᓐᖔᖅᑐᓂᒃ
ᑐᑭᓯᐅᒪᖃᑎᒌᓐᓂᐊᕐᒪᑕ ᑖᒃᑯᐊᓗ ᓂᕈᐊᖅᑐᓕᕆᔨᕐᔪᐊᒃᑯᑦ
ᖃᐅᔨᒪᑦᓯᐊᒃᑲᓐᓂᓕᕐᓗᑎᒃ ᖃᓄᖅ ᐃᑲᔪᖅᓯᑲᓐᓂᕐᓂᐊᕐᒪᖔᑕ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖅᐳᑦ
ᓴᐳᔾᔨᑲᓐᓂᕐᓂᐊᕈᑦᑎᒍ ᓯᕗᓂᒃᓴᒃᑎᓐᓄᑦ. ᑕᒪᓐᓇᑦᑕᐅᖅ ᐱᖓᔪᐊᑦ ᐋ
ᖃᓄᖅᑑᖅᑕᐅᒃᑲᓐᓂᕆᐊᓕᒃ ᐃᓱᒫᓘᑎ-ᖃᕐᓂᖅᐸᑕ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ ᐃᓐᓇᕆᔭᖅᐳᑦ
ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ ᖃᓪᓗᓈᑎᑐᑦ ᐅᖃᕈᓐᓇᖏᑦᑐᑦ ᓇᒧᑦ ᐅᖃᕆᐊᖅᑐᕈᓐᓇᕐᒪ-
ᖔᑦᑕ ᑐᑭᓯᐅᒪᔭᐅᒃᑲᓐᓂᕆᐊᓕᒃ ᐋᖅᑭᒋᐊᖅᑕᐅᒃᑲᓐᓂᕆᐊᓕᒃ. ᑎᓴᒪᑦ ᐋ
ᖃᐅᔨᓴᖅᑕᐅᑦᓯᐊᒃᑲᓐᓂᖅᑑᔮᕆᔭᕋ ᖃᓄᖅ ᐊᐅᓚᓂᖃᓲᖑᒻᒪᖔᑦᑕ
ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ ᑖᓐᓇ ᑲᓇᑕᒥ ᐃᓱᒪᖅᓱᕈᓐᓇᑎᓪᓗᑕ
ᓈᒻᒪᑦᓴᖃᑎᒌᓕᑦᓯᐊᒻᒪᕆᓐᓂᐊᕈᑦᑕ ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᓂᒃ. ᑭᖑᓪᓕᖅ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ
ᒐᕙᒪᑐᖃᒃᑯᑦ ᐃᒃᐱᓐᓂᐊᕆᑦᓯᐊᒃ-ᑲᓐᓂᕆᐊᓖᑦ ᓄᓇᖃᖅᑳᖅᓯᒪᔪᐃᑦ
ᐃᓕᖅᑯᓯᖏᓐᓂᒃ ᑖᓐᓇ ᑐᑭᓯᐅᒪᔭᐅᒃᑭᐊᑲᓐᓂᖅᐸᑕ ᓈᒻᒪᖃᑎᒌᓕᑦᓯᐊ-
ᑲᓐᓂᕐᓂᐊᕋᑦᑕ ᓯᕗᓂᒃᓴᑦᑎᓐᓄᑦ, ᖁᔭᓐᓇᒦᒃ ᐅᖓᑖᒎᖅᑎᑕᐅᓵᕋᒪ.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

Thank you for inviting me to speak as a witness. I have enjoyed
listening to other witnesses regarding this important issue.

As an Inuk, I have always known that language and culture are
intimately connected, but I have been intrigued by this system's at‐
tempt to isolate language in the context of voting.

I believe the attempt to separate language and culture is another
indication of the impacts of colonialism. While initially voter
turnout may have been high, voter turnouts declined, and remained
low for generations.

The president of Nunavut Tunngavik Inc., Aluki Kotierk, pointed
out that in the last federal election, the voter turnout in Nunavut
was only about 34%. Indeed, the voter turnout in Nunavut Tun‐
ngavik Inc.'s election was approximately 17.5%.

I must share that Nunavut has shown that elections in Inuktitut,
along with English and French, can and do work.

Procedurally, there is a precedent, but as I pointed out, ensuring
indigenous voting by providing indigenous languages is not suffi‐
cient in and of itself. Voters are greeted at the polling station by an
Elections Canada employee who speaks English or French. The el‐
der may not understand what the employee is saying, so the elder is
usually assisted by the kindness of someone else.

I will speak to what I have experienced, and seen in Nunavut.
Many Nunavummiut voters enjoy the freedom of being able to vote
in their mother tongue during a territorial election, or during a des‐
ignated Inuit organization election. This is their right.

With the exception of the pilot project in the 2021 federal elec‐
tion, this is not a norm. The ballots had roughly transliterated Inuk‐
titut names, and phonetically spelled party names in syllabics in the
last federal election. This is not a norm.

According to the 2021 census, the population of Nunavut is
36,858, of whom 85% are Inuit. There are 25 Nunavut communi‐
ties. Each community and region has its own struggles, and experi‐
ences when voting. It is imperative to understand that these are
complex issues without simple solutions.

● (1215)

One specific example is the consequence of medical travel. Hun‐
dreds of Nunavummiut are forced to travel to Iqaluit or the south
for medical services and treatments. In Iqaluit, those medical trav‐
ellers wanted to exercise their right to vote in 2021. However, they
were turned away because they were not residents of Iqaluit though
they were residents of Nunavut. Therefore, they were denied their
fundamental right to vote. Through the assistance of my campaign
team, some were able to vote, but many were turned away. This is
an example of how Nunavummiut must constantly fight to exercise
their basic rights. Nunavummiut should not have to lose their right
to vote because they are on medical travel.

I will summarize my comments regarding staffing. There are
many unilingual Inuktitut speakers, especially Inuit elders. As a
unilingual speaker on election day, an elder must have a proper ID.
They are greeted at the polling station by an Elections Canada em‐
ployee who speaks English or French. The elder may not under‐
stand what the employee is saying, so that elder is either assisted by
the kindness of someone else or goes to the polling station not
knowing what to do. With the exception of the pilot project de‐
scribed earlier by Elections Canada, the ballot is in English or
French. Most elders cannot read English or French.

During my campaign, when it became evident that the ballots
would not have Inuktitut, I had to describe to people that my name
was the one in the middle, between two other candidates. This is
not acceptable in a modern Canada. This is not reconciliation.

Another example involves the complaints process. Often when
complaints are being made to the chief returning officer, if interpre‐
tation or translation is not provided, then a unilingual elder will
have to depend on someone else to file the complaint. Sometimes it
is not worth filing a complaint, because the person receiving the
complaint literally does not speak the same language.

Prior to colonialism, first nations, Métis and Inuit had their own
ways of identifying elders. Inuit in smaller camps based leadership
on exemplary skills of hunters, sawmen or seamstresses. Inuit still
have local leaders who are unique to our culture and way of life.

I learned, since my election, about the hereditary chiefs of the
Wet'suwet'en. The chiefs in the territory within British Columbia
are not elected as are those in the colonial system created as the In‐
dian bands. The hereditary chiefs will have authority over the use
of their lands, for the most part. I am sure we have all heard about
the infringement of their rights and about the pipeline going
through their territory without proper consent.

We must learn how best to respect indigenous governance to en‐
sure Canada lives up to its commitments to reconciliation.

As a witness in this committee, I want to include the following
recommendations for specific and immediate action.
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● (1220)

One, learn from Elections Nunavut, which has extensive experi‐
ence running elections in four official languages.

Two, hire full-time indigenous interpreter-translators within
Elections Canada for those indigenous communities that need them.
This will help build the necessary expertise and corporate knowl‐
edge for the department regarding indigenous languages for future
elections.

Three, streamline the complaints process for unilingual indige‐
nous people to voice their concerns. This needs to be made very
clear and be improved.

Four, conduct a further study on indigenous governance within
Canada's democracy as another form of reconciliation.

Finally, number five, ensure that the federal Government of
Canada respects indigenous cultures in order to build the trust that
is necessary for real reconciliation.

Thank you for allowing me this time.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you.

I would like to thank all the committee members for the leniency
in providing that extra time for the opening comments. I'm sure cer‐
tain words in English versus Inuktitut would probably take longer
as well, so that was very appreciated.

We are going to go into basically an unlimited amount of time, it
will feel like, with Mr. Vis. I will look forward to you, followed by
Mr. Fergus, I believe, Madam Gaudreau and then Ms. Blaney.

Go ahead, Mr. Vis.
Mr. Brad Vis: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Thank you, MP Idlout, for being at committee today. I went to
your territory once. It was about 12 or 13 years ago. I went to the
Nunavummiut legislature. It was in session, and they took a break
from the session. What I remember from the chamber was that all
of the interpreters were around the chamber to represent all of the
languages. They all went into the lunch room afterwards. I was
standing there, and they invited me in. I had a traditional Inuit meal
with all of the translators. I had caribou, beluga whale and another
type of whale. They even used their traditional knife. That was the
one experience of my life where I really learned a little bit about
what you said about connecting language and culture. It's an experi‐
ence that will stay with me forever.

You made five recommendations just now in your opening re‐
marks. This is our third day studying indigenous languages on the
ballot. I've come to the personal conclusion—not even with my col‐
leagues, but just me personally—that I almost feel that the situation
in your territory is very different from the rest of Canada. That
largely goes back to the 1993 land claims agreement that was sup‐
ported by 85% of the Nunavummiut people. When that agreement
was signed, were there provisions for culture and language that the
federal government had to respect as part of that reconciliation pro‐
cess?

● (1225)

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

ᐊᐱᖅᑯᑎᑦᓯᐊᕙᒃ ᐊᒻᒪᓗ ᐅᐱᒋᕙᒋᑦ ᓄᓇᕗᒻᒨᓚᖑᐅᕋᕕᑦ ᑕᐃᒃᑯᐊᓗ
ᑐᓵᔨᐅᔪᑦ ᓂᕆᖃᑎᒋᓚᐅᕋᕕᒋᑦ ᐋ ᖁᕕᐊᓇᓚᐅᖅᐳᕐᓕᑭᐊ ᑖᒃᑯᐊ
ᑐᓵᔨᕆᔭᖅᐳᑦ ᖁᔭᒌᓐᓇᖃᑦᑕᕋᒃᑭ ᑕᐃᒪᓐᖓᓕᒫᖅ
ᐊᔪᓐᖏᑦᑐᑦᔪᐊᕌᓘᒻᒪᑕ ᐊᔪᓐᖏᑦᑐᐊᓗᓐᓂᒃ ᓂᕆᖃᑎᖃᓚᐅᖅᐳᑎᑦ, ᐄ.
ᐋᒻ, ᑖᓐᓇ ᐋᒻ ᓄᓇᕗᑖᕈᑎᖅᐳᑦ ᐊᖏᕈᑎᖓᓐᓂᒃ ᖃᐅᔨᒪᔭᖃᖅᑐᖓ
ᐊᕕᑦᑐᖅᓯᒪᔪᖅ 32, ᑖᓐᓇ ᐊᕕᖅᑐᖅᓯᒪᓂᖓ 32 ᐃᓅᓯᓕᕆᓂᕐᒧᑦ ᐋ
ᐃᓅᖃᑎᒌᑦᓯᐊᕈᑎᓂᕐᒧᑦ ᐱᔾᔪᑎᖃᓪᓗᐊᑕᖅᓱᓂ, ᖃᓪᓗᓈᑎᑐᑦ
ᐅᖄᓪᓛᓗᓐᓂᐊᕋᒃᑯ ᓲᓪᓯᐅᓪ ᐊᓐ ᑳᑦᓱᕈᓪ ᑎᕕᓚᑉᒥᓐᑦ ᐋᕐᑎᑯᓪ 32ᒥ, ᑖᓐᓇ
ᖃᓄᑐᐃᓐᓇᖅ ᐃᓗᓕᖃᕈᓐᓇᖅᓱᓂ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᓕᕆᓂᐅᑉ ᐅᒡᕙᓘᓐᓃᑦ
ᐱᖅᑯᓯᓕᕆᓂᐅᑉ ᒥᑦᓵᓄᑦ ᓇᓗᓇᐃᕆᑦᓯᓯᐊᒻᒪᕆᓐᖏᑦᑑᒐᓗᐊᖅ
ᓂᕈᐊᕐᓂᐅᑉ ᒥᒃᓵᓂᒃ ᑭᓯᐊᓂ ᑖᓐᓇ ᐅᖃᐅᓯᖅᐳᑦ ᐱᖅᑯᓯᖅᐳᑦ
ᐃᓗᐊᓃᖃᑕᐅᔪᖅ ᓇᓗᓇᐃᕆᑦᓯᐊᒻᒪᕆᓐᖏᑐᐃᓐᓇᖅᑐᖅ ᒫᓐᓇᒧᓄᑦ.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

That is a very good question.

I am so proud that you came to the Legislative Assembly of
Nunavut. It's good to know you that had a chance to eat with the
interpreters. The interpreters are held in the highest esteem, because
they are very capable and knowledgeable people.

With regard to the boundary, under article 32 on social and cul‐
tural development, anything can be included in there in terms of
culture and languages. There are no really clear clauses in the arti‐
cles in the land claims agreement, and they're not really clarified
right now, but they are included in the land claims agreement.

[English]

Mr. Brad Vis: I'm just going to make sure that I got that correct‐
ly. Article 32 is not very clear about the use of language specifical‐
ly.

Ms. Lori Idlout: I'll say it in English. Article 32 within the
Nunavut Land Claims Agreement addresses language and culture.
It addresses social development too. I think it's purposefully vague
about what is meant by social development. It doesn't clearly define
what is meant by social and cultural development for Inuit by pur‐
pose, because I think when the land claim was crafted, they wanted
more room for it to be interpreted properly, not to make limitations
on what would later become interpretations of that article. There is
no specific wording about voting or elections, but that would be the
article that I refer to when it comes to language and culture.

Mr. Brad Vis: Would it be feasible for the Tunngavik corpora‐
tion to come forward, because I'm assuming they still have regular
negotiations with the federal government, and maybe make a re‐
quest to the federal government that, in the unique circumstances of
the territory of Nunavut, federal elections be in the recognized lan‐
guages of the territory as part of its unique agreement with the Gov‐
ernment of Canada through the 1993 Nunavut Land Claims Agree‐
ment?
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Ms. Lori Idlout: Just to clarify this a bit, when the Nunavut
Land Claims Agreement was negotiated and signed, it was signed
between the Government of Canada, Nunavut and Tunngavik, the
organization that is now Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated. It
wouldn't necessarily be a request by NTI to ensure that languages
are in Inuktitut because of it being enabling for other acts, including
the Nunavut Act. The Nunavut Act, as enabling legislation, allowed
for the Government of Nunavut to have authority over how elec‐
tions would work within the territory of Nunavut, so that's more
within the jurisdiction of the Government of Nunavut.

Mr. Brad Vis: Okay. Is it your objective, in putting this study
forward, to ensure that indigenous languages are on the ballot in
your territory or possibly across Canada? If you were to walk away
at the end of this term and in the next federal election we have your
language on the federal ballot, would that be considered a success
for you?

Ms. Lori Idlout: That's a great question. I would love for all in‐
digenous languages that exist in Canada to be incorporated into ev‐
ery ballot that is possible. If there are known to be more Ojibway
people in northern Ontario, for example, then northern Ontario
should have Ojibway on the ballot. I think we have a precedent we
can follow, which is the Northwest Territories. It has 11 official lan‐
guages, and from what I understood in their testimony this morn‐
ing, they were describing that they're able to determine which com‐
munities and which areas in that territory have more of each of
those different 11 languages to make sure that those languages are
reflective of the needs of the community.

This is definitely something that I would love for all of Canada.
We've seen it in Nunavut and the NWT, so if we can do it in popu‐
lations where there are more indigenous people, then we should ac‐
commodate the needs of indigenous people in all of Canada.

● (1230)

Mr. Brad Vis: I see that perspective, but I think in Nunavut it
could almost be easier than in other parts of Canada, largely be‐
cause of the threshold question that MP Sahota raised: What would
be an acceptable threshold for the inclusion of an indigenous lan‐
guage? Consider how that relates to our two official languages and
especially what other Canadians would feel about having languages
that aren't part of the Official Languages Act on a federal ballot.
That would be problematic for some people, probably most likely
for the Québécois.

What would you say about thresholds?

Ms. Lori Idlout: That's a great question. I think what I would
say about thresholds is that the extent of language loss in indige‐
nous communities should be the threshold. If there's been more lan‐
guage loss, then Elections Canada should work harder to help pro‐
mote and protect that language.

Elections Canada can have a role to make sure that languages are
being protected, even through the ballot and materials towards be‐
coming a candidate. Making sure that elections are all available in
those languages should be the threshold. The more the language
loss, the more that Elections Canada should work harder to ensure
that those languages are on the ballot.

Mr. Brad Vis: If you were to amend the Elections Canada Act,
what sections do you think would need to be amended? Have you
considered putting forward legislation yourself in this Parliament?

As part of the agreement that the New Democratic Party made
with the governing Liberal Party in your coalition, have you guys—

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

Mr. Brad Vis: This is a fair question. There are broad definitions
of what a coalition is in the Webster's Canadian Dictionary.

My question is, when two political parties, if you want to do
this....

The Chair: Mr. Vis, I would say that your line of questioning
has been quite informative, and I would ask that you continue.

Mr. Brad Vis: Thank you.

Was an agreement made to include amendments to the Elections
Canada Act between the New Democratic Party and the Liberal
Party? I believe that there were some lines in there on reconcilia‐
tion. Was an amendment to the Elections Canada Act a part of the
agreement made between your two parties?

Ms. Lori Idlout: To respond to the first part of your question
about legislation, bills that I might want to see, I can refer to my
predecessor, Mumilaaq Qaqqaq, who developed a bill that I am
looking over right now to see if I would want to introduce that as a
private member's bill. However, I have to consider that with my
party as well.

I have considered it. I have looked at Mumilaaq's bill that she de‐
veloped before it died on the Order Paper.

On the second part of your question, I have not had any conver‐
sations with the Liberal government about what changes I might
propose in regard to this confidence agreement that we have with
the Liberals.

Mr. Brad Vis: Thank you for the exchange. I appreciated it.
The Chair: That was a very thorough exchange, Mr. Vis. Thank

you for that.

Mr. Fergus, you have six minutes.
● (1235)

Hon. Greg Fergus: Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

Thank you, Ms. Idlout for your testimony, and also for your ini‐
tiative.

I'm going to go back to a question that I asked of the commis‐
sioner for the Northwest Territories and also to the testimony that
was provided to us from the CEO of Elections Canada.

Elections Canada seems to have a one-size-fits-all perspective. I
always like to say that we're the sum of our experiences. Some peo‐
ple would say that we're the victims of our experiences.

It would appear that because we have two colonial official lan‐
guages that exist across Canada, the effort is made to always pro‐
vide, regardless of where you are in the country, fully accessible
material in both languages. That's a good thing.
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What I was hearing from our testimony in the first panel today,
and I think what I'm hearing from you, especially in your conversa‐
tion with Mr. Vis, is that you're looking for recognition and a re‐
spect to include indigenous languages on material, including the
ballot, where it's appropriate. If you noticed, I didn't use the word
“threshold”. I'm not looking to some...kick in a percentage and all
of a sudden it's there, but where it's appropriate.

Is my understanding of what you're seeking correct? If not,
please—

Ms. Lori Idlout: Yes, I think so.

Part of the reason I became a parliamentarian was that I wanted
to have influence, where I could be part of helping to protect and
promote first nations', Métis' and Inuit's—Inuit specifically with me
being an Inuk—place in Canada. There have been too many atroci‐
ties that we've all experienced, and there have been too many times
where “reconciliation” is a buzzword. I wanted to be part of some‐
thing where I helped to make sure that it's not just a buzzword and
that we talk about actual reconciliation.

A part of reconciliation has to include finding ways to protect
and promote indigenous languages in Canada. The elections pro‐
cess is one of those ways. It's not the only way by any means, but it
has to be a way that we respect these indigenous rights that do ex‐
ist. We're not just talking about exercises in democracy. We're also
talking about the existence of the rights of first nations, Métis and
Inuit. That's what I'm looking to ensure that we do as parliamentari‐
ans, to make sure we're helping to respect those rights and to make
sure those rights are upheld.

Hon. Greg Fergus: In your testimony to the committee today, I
found myself outraged at the fact that there were many members
who happened to find themselves, for a whole bunch of reasons, in
a different part of the territory and tried to exercise their right to
vote but had no effective access to understanding the process or to
people who could help guide them through that process so that they
could vote appropriately.

I know that my constituents, if they moved or if they were serv‐
ing abroad, could go to any mission or go to any voting booth and
seek to vote. They could write in on the ballot, but it's because most
of the people in my constituency speak English or French. They
have that full freedom to do what you would expect one would be
able to do in your territory but can't effectively do that because of
the language barrier. Is that a correct understanding of your testi‐
mony?

Ms. Lori Idlout: Absolutely. I was so saddened to hear that peo‐
ple had been turned away from voting. To also have to work that
hard just for the basic right to vote is such a sad story in Canada.

Hon. Greg Fergus: I agree.
● (1240)

Ms. Lori Idlout: We know that Canada as a democracy is found‐
ed on its right to vote so it really is.... From my perspective, from
the people who I represent, from Inuit, we have been oppressed for
generations. It was shoved down our throats that our culture does
not belong, that we must practise Christianity, that if we speak
Inuktitut we'll be whipped with a metre stick, that if we speak our
language, if we sing our songs, we're going to be beaten. It's very

difficult for Inuit to even go to complain because of those genera‐
tions of oppressive atrocities towards first nations, Métis and Inuit.

When I was hearing—I forget his name—the one from Elections
Canada saying that there have been no complaints, that is just an in‐
dication of how strong those government officials are because
they're still afraid to go to complain. It's still not an exercise that we
can do as easily as other cultures, but that world view and those be‐
haviours are changing. I'm so proud to see more Inuit, more first
nations and more Métis becoming more determined and voicing
themselves. We are seeing those changes and we need to continue
to promote more first nations, Métis and Inuit to exercise their voic‐
es.

Hon. Greg Fergus: May I have just one last question? It will be
a brief question.

The Chair: I would appreciate a very brief question, and a very
brief answer.

Hon. Greg Fergus: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Ms. Idlout, I would like to ask a very practical question. We've
heard testimony now at two meetings, where we've compared the
voting turnout at territorial elections to the voting turnout at a fed‐
eral election, the latter being significantly less than the turnout at
territorial or municipal elections in the territories.

Would you ascribe that largely to the lack of respect we have
shown the folks in your community?

Ms. Lori Idlout: The impacts of governments, churches, and the
RCMP are still very deep within our communities, and because of
that, it's very challenging. When I was campaigning, for example, I
heard many people say, “What's the point of voting, when it's not
going to make any difference?” Many first nations, Métis, and Inuit
have lost the sense of using their voice, because their voice doesn't
matter.

We all need to work harder to make sure that we hear first na‐
tions, Métis, and Inuit, and make sure that when we're hearing
them, we're making decisions that have better impacts for their
communities.

Hon. Greg Fergus: Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you.

[Translation]

Ms. Gaudreau, you have six minutes. Go ahead.

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Madam Chair, thank you for giv‐
ing me the opportunity to ask several questions and to make an ob‐
servation.

I hope those who are following the committee's proceedings and
discussions regarding a possible amendment to the Canada Elec‐
tions Act will take something away. By engaging in a dialogue over
a number of hours, we have had the chance to share our views, bet‐
ter understand the issues and show the openness that is so often
called for.
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Ms. Idlout, even though we may not be able to achieve every‐
thing we should by the next election, does the dialogue we have ini‐
tiated answer your plea at all? As a parliamentarian, I keenly felt it.
● (1245)

[English]
Ms. Lori Idlout: That's a great question.

When it comes to indigenous languages, more can always be
done.

I was fascinated. I don't know if you heard the witnesses who
were here a couple of witnesses ago. The two young men who ap‐
peared indicated how important it was to invest in actual program‐
ming that ensured they had the ability to learn and speak in their
languages. I was very impacted by their statements, because it
showed the generational differences that we're experiencing be‐
tween cultures.

More can be done within Canada's programming, but having this
dialogue at this committee is also an important aspect of that.

[Translation]
Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you.

The year 1995 marked a very important time in my life. At the
age of 18, I felt the need to learn English in order to be taken more
seriously in Quebec and Canada. I went to Hawaii to learn English.
The experience of the indigenous community in Hawaii is com‐
pletely different from the experience here. There, people shared a
sense of unity, and I even learned Hawaiian in high school. For me,
it was part of the culture.

We have two official languages in Canada, but now I realize that
things are often tough as a parliamentarian, even in French. I won't
call it contempt, but it is still clear today that our differences lead to
breakdowns in communication. That is why I am here, as a member
of the Bloc Québécois. I can certainly appreciate the steps that have
to be taken.

Much of what the witnesses said focused on the measures that
could be taken in advance to recognize the various languages—16,
in this case—to help revitalize those cultures and to foster a sense
of pride among those speakers.

A few days ago, I went to La Conception, in my riding of Lau‐
rentides—Labelle. I visited the site of a future indigenous cultural
centre called Kina8at, which brings cultures together and helps peo‐
ple discover them to encourage an appreciation of our differences.

Ms. Idlout, I'd like to hear your comments on the outcome of this
process.

Do you think we will have taken a significant step down the path
of truth and reconciliation with this study?

[English]
Ms. Lori Idlout: I think the work of this study could play a

small part. I know that when it comes to reconciliation, it can't just
be compartmentalized. The part of this committee could make a
dent in it.

For example, we don't need to have all 16 languages on all of the
ballots, but if we know that in Nova Scotia there are more
Mi'kmaq, we should make sure that the Mi'kmaq languages are on
those ballots in Nova Scotia. If we know that there are more
Gitxsan in B.C., we need to make sure that ballots are available in
Gitxsan in B.C.

There are opportunities where we can learn procedures that have
been used in the NWT, where they know there are pockets of spe‐
cific indigenous people. We could use those pockets of indigenous
people as a model to say that's where we can target those lan‐
guages. I think it's possible to compartmentalize toward success.

● (1250)

[Translation]

Ms. Marie-Hélène Gaudreau: Thank you, Ms. Idlout.

The Chair: Thank you to the both of you.

We now go to Ms. Blaney for six minutes.

[English]

Ms. Rachel Blaney (North Island—Powell River, NDP):
Thank you, Chair.

As always, all my questions will go through the chair.

Ms. Idlout, I want to thank you for your work here and for the
words you shared with us today. I really admire it. The conversa‐
tion we're having today is really important.

I'm really moved by the story you told in your testimony about
literally having to tell your constituents, “My name is the one in the
middle.” That really is a good reminder of how challenging it can
be to feel like you even have the right to vote, if all you know when
you walk in is that the middle name and those symbols mean that
person. I also found it really interesting in the testimony the idea of
having photos beside the names.

I would like to ask you a question. The first part of the question
is, what do you think about the photos by the name? Does that also
assist people who have challenges?

Also, how are we going to see the indigenous population start to
vote more? I represent over 20 first nations communities. The voter
turnout locally in their own nations is very high, around 90%. They
get out and they vote, but when it comes to the federal election, it's
a lot lower.

What do you think impedes indigenous voters from casting their
vote, and what do you think can be done to increase voter turnout
among those communities?

Ms. Lori Idlout: It's a great question. Thank you.



April 5, 2022 PROC-15 17

For sure it's about learning to understand just how deep the im‐
pacts of colonialism have been, especially when it comes to the bal‐
lot. As I was mentioning, first nations, Métis and Inuit have been
forced away from their world views. When Elections Canada is hir‐
ing staff, those staff have to be trauma informed. If they're not trau‐
ma informed, then their behaviour is going to seem very colonial.
They are so used to just ordering people around and saying, “Do
this,” which are the very symbols of colonial behaviours towards
first nations, Métis and Inuit.

I think there might be a lack of interest in practising this right to
vote when you're voting for people who will ultimately be part of
that system. As I said earlier, part of this ongoing conversation we
need to have is about making reconciliation real. What are some
tangible things we can do that show we are trying to do better for
first nations, Métis and Inuit?

I can see why the voter turnout would be a lot higher for first na‐
tions because they know that those first nations groups are going to
fight for their rights. To have someone represent you who you
know will fight for your rights is someone you know you'll want.

To the second part of that question, I think we have to do a better
job as parliamentarians in how we do our work. One thing I'm al‐
ways shocked by when I go back to my riding is, first, how thank‐
ful my constituents are that I visited their communities but also
how uninformed they are of the services that are available to them
within their communities.

There still doesn't tend to be a lot of understanding of what Ser‐
vice Canada does or what Elections Canada can do. I think that as
parliamentarians we all can do a better job of informing our con‐
stituents of the services that they should be allowed to have, the
services that they can expect to have from the Government of
Canada, and making sure that legislation, policies and programs are
better reflective of the cultural needs of first nations, Métis and Inu‐
it.

Ms. Rachel Blaney: Thank you for that.

Something that is very apparent is that there needs to be more
work done in this area. What do you think Elections Canada could
do about hiring local indigenous people as interpreters, potentially,
maybe even as cultural interpreters to raise awareness of what the
best process is to move forward to engage that population?

I think this is important because this is a measurable outcome. If
we can see some action, we can actually say, “This is the percent‐
age of indigenous people who were voting, and now it's this.” It's
so measurable. It seems like something we should invest in.

● (1255)

Ms. Lori Idlout: Yes, for sure. That's a great question, too.

I think we've heard some great examples as well, shared by wit‐
nesses, including just making sure that Elections Canada has more
interpreters who are available, not just for election day but within
their staff. I think they need linguists, too, to make sure that they
have a better understanding. Cultural interpreters, too, I think are a
great idea.

I think it was the NWT elections office that said it would meet
with indigenous organizations. The indigenous organizations know
who their populations are. I think Elections Canada could meet
with indigenous organizations like the Assembly of First Nations
and Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, these national organizations that work
with their people to make sure that their rights are being advocated
for.

The Chair: Do you have a final comment, Ms. Blaney?
Ms. Rachel Blaney: I don't think I have enough time for my fi‐

nal comment. I'll leave it at that. Thank you.
The Chair: Ms. Idlout, on behalf of PROC committee members

I would like to thank you for your testimony and your time with us
today. As I say to everyone, you're always welcome to send us
more information, which we will definitely consider as we continue
with this report. You've been a fabulous addition. Thank you for
your time.

Voices: Hear, hear!

The Chair: Kudos to all committee members for the informative
questions.

I will just remind committee members that on Thursday we will
meet again. In the first hour we will have Jean-François Daoust, as‐
sistant professor, University of Edinburgh; Dwight Newman, pro‐
fessor of law and Canada research chair in indigenous rights in con‐
stitutional and international law, University of Saskatchewan; Alli‐
son Harell, professor, political science department, Université du
Québec à Montréal.

For the second panel, we'll have the Institut Tshakapesh, with
Marjolaine Tshernish, general manager; as well as First Nations Ed‐
ucation Council, Denis Gros-Louis, who's the director general.

We look forward to continuing this study. With that, I wish ev‐
eryone a really good day. We'll see you on Thursday.

The meeting is adjourned.

 







Published under the authority of the Speaker of
the House of Commons

Publié en conformité de l’autorité
du Président de la Chambre des communes

SPEAKER’S PERMISSION PERMISSION DU PRÉSIDENT
The proceedings of the House of Commons and its commit‐
tees are hereby made available to provide greater public ac‐
cess. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons
to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of
the House of Commons and its committees is nonetheless re‐
served. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Les délibérations de la Chambre des communes et de ses
comités sont mises à la disposition du public pour mieux le
renseigner. La Chambre conserve néanmoins son privilège
parlementaire de contrôler la publication et la diffusion des
délibérations et elle possède tous les droits d’auteur sur
celles-ci.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons
and its committees, in whole or in part and in any medium,
is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accu‐
rate and is not presented as official. This permission does not
extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial
purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this
permission or without authorization may be treated as copy‐
right infringement in accordance with the Copyright Act. Au‐
thorization may be obtained on written application to the Of‐
fice of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre
et de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n’importe quel sup‐
port, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu’elle ne soit
pas présentée comme version officielle. Il n’est toutefois pas
permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d’utiliser les délibéra‐
tions à des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un profit
financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise ou
non formellement autorisée peut être considérée comme une
violation du droit d’auteur aux termes de la Loi sur le droit
d’auteur. Une autorisation formelle peut être obtenue sur
présentation d’une demande écrite au Bureau du Président
de la Chambre des communes.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not
constitute publication under the authority of the House of
Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceed‐
ings of the House of Commons does not extend to these per‐
mitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs
to a committee of the House of Commons, authorization for
reproduction may be required from the authors in accor‐
dance with the Copyright Act.

La reproduction conforme à la présente permission ne con‐
stitue pas une publication sous l’autorité de la Chambre. Le
privilège absolu qui s’applique aux délibérations de la Cham‐
bre ne s’étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lorsqu’une
reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés à un comité
de la Chambre, il peut être nécessaire d’obtenir de leurs au‐
teurs l’autorisation de les reproduire, conformément à la Loi
sur le droit d’auteur.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the
privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its committees. For greater certainty, this per‐
mission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or
questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re‐
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


